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We look after 18,500 
customers and 23,700 
connection points 
within a 13,700km2 area

We deliver around 
380 Gigawatt hours 
of electricity per year

70 Megawatt  
maximum demand* 
*based on 2018–2019 SCADA data

100% consumer owned

80% of our team are 
locals living within 
local communities

$44.5m in revenue

Every dollar we spend 
brings $3.40 back into 
the local economy

We returned $52.9m 
in discounts and 
dividends to 
beneficiaries over 
the last 10 years

FACTS AT A GLANCE



The Lines Company owns and operates the 
electricity lines and assets in the King Country, 
Ruapehu and Central Plateau.

Introduction

Our board, senior leaders and more 
than 150-strong team are committed 
to the communities in which we 
operate and proud to keep our 18,500 
customers connected to electricity.

Alongside our core electricity network, 
we have three subsidiaries across the 
renewable hydrogeneration, 
metering data and technology 
sectors. These businesses help us 
meet future customer needs and 

provide additional revenue streams, 
increasing the value we bring to 
those we serve.

We are a limited liability company, 
with a board of directors appointed 
by our customer trust, Waitomo 
Energy Services Customer Trust 
(WESCT). Our business operates  
in a regulated environment where 
revenue is controlled by the 
Commerce Commission.
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Where we’ve 
come from

18,500
new pricing plans to customer accounts

I mua

FACTS AT A GLANCE

200
new connections  
last year
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The work required in order to 
implement this change was extensive 
and thorough. It included modelling 
new prices using historical actual 
data and analysing impacts of this on 
23,700 individual connection points 
(ICPs) to better understand the 
impact on our customers, especially 
those facing energy hardship issues, 
and on our shareholders. 

On behalf of TLC our subsidiary, 
Financial Corporation Ltd — 
Metering (FCLM), liaised with all 
retailers on the network about 
reconfiguring and reconciling data 
from some 21,000 meters, thus 
enabling customers to ‘see’ their 
consumption each pricing period. 
New customer invoices were 
designed and trialled, with new 
pricing plans mapped and sent 
to 18,500 customer accounts.

Our pricing journey
The year was dominated by the 
introduction of our new pricing 
structure in October 2018. This 
followed a more than two-year 
journey, from 2016, when customers 
told us that under demand-based 
pricing our bills were difficult to 
understand and control.

With a clear mandate from our Board, 
we entered an extensive period of 
consultation and information sharing. 
It required us to develop multiple 
new processes and systems and 
we worked extremely hard to 
communicate the changes to our 
customers and wider community via 
roadshows, updates and clinics with 
groups, community agencies and 
individuals. We used a range of 
information and media platforms 
to support our customers through 
the change.

Key dates 
and activities

During the transition to the new 
pricing we also introduced a new 
billing system and successfully 
migrated 1.4 million financial 
transactions. 

On 1 October 2018 this new way of 
charging, which makes it clear what 
energy charges will be at different 
times of the day, was launched. The 
pricing is now more transparent and 
easier to understand and customers 
can adjust their energy use as they 
choose. 

We are however acutely conscious 
that affordability is a very real issue 
for many people in our community 
and we will continue to look at ways 
to help.  The new pricing transition 
discount was just one of the ways 
we have offered to support people 
to transition into our new pricing.

Customer focus groups across the 
network consider the independent 
report and provide feedback on 
its recommended new pricing 
approach

Board confirms TLC will  
move to new (time-of-use) 
pricing in 2018

TLC Board launches 
independent review of the 
then demand-based pricing

New pricing trialled with 
a network-wide sample 
customer group 

Board confirms new 
pricing will be in place 
for 1 October 2018

Staff training and customer 
information and support 
systems set in place

The independent review 
recommends exploring time-of-
use as a new pricing approach

Update to focus groups across 
the network who had provided 
feedback on the new pricing 
approach

2016
September

2017
March 

2017
April – May 

2017
October 

2017
August 

2017
December 

2018
January – October 

2017
September 
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Research
As an organisation undergoing 
change it was fundamental we 
understood more clearly our 
community’s expectations of us. 
In the early part of the year we 
surveyed customers, community 
organisations and businesses 
across our region. 

What our customers told us 
enables us to focus our efforts 
on communicating more 
appropriately. 

Our customers and stakeholders with whom we engage

•  Residents of homes in our communities
•  Owners of small-to-medium businesses
•  Larger commercial and industrial customers

• Iwi
•  Federated Farmers
•  Forest Owners Association
•  Business Associations
•  Grey Power
•  Citizens Advice
•  Budgeting Services
•  Major Electricity Users Group (MEUG)
• Field service contractors
• Electricity Networks Association (ENA)
•  Debt and equity investors
• Waitomo Energy Services Customer Trust (WESCT)
• Local, regional and national media
• E Tu

• Local authorities
• Regional councils
• Members of Parliament
• Government officials
•  Ministers of the Crown  

(Energy and Regional Development)
• Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment (MBIE)
• Energy Efficiency and Conservation Authority (EECA)

• Commerce Commission
• Electricity Authority
• Utilities Disputes
• WorkSafe New Zealand (including Energy Safety)

•  Electricity Retailers Association of New Zealand 
(ERANZ)

•  Energy retailers  
(there are currently 15 on our network)

• Metering companies
•  Energy Networks Association (ENA)
• Other electricity distribution businesses
• Transpower

There’s still more to 
come, but perceptions 

and communication have 
improved. The challenge 
for all is getting people 

to understand the value 
electricity brings to our lives.

Alan Turton  
President, Ruapehu Grey Power

Customers

Representative 
Groups

Government

Regulators

Industry 
Participants

Our aim is to be an integral part 
of our community, and to build 
pride and confidence in our 
ability to support the region’s 
social and economic future.

Our efforts in these areas 
continue, as do regular research 
‘check-ins’ and face-to-face 
meetings with customers and 
other key stakeholders in our 
business.
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government, proactively meeting with 
relevant Ministers and local members 
of parliament as we worked through 
change. We were recently congratulated 
by the Minister of Energy and Resources, 
Megan Woods, for our proactive 
approach and overall progress.

Affordability will continue to be an area 
of priority for us. The Lines Company has, 
for many years, charged well under its 
allowable regulated revenue and has 
focussed on tightly managing operating 
costs. This focus must, and will, continue 
in the future, despite a 10-year capital 
investment programme. This will see 
us addressing some major legacy issues 
to significantly improve the safety and 
reliability of the network as well as 
growth, particularly in the North King 
Country area. In the coming year alone, 
we will spend $2.7 million on work to 
target improvements in reliability as part 
of a $18 million budgeted capital spend 
overall.

The King Country, with as many power 
poles as Wellington but with only one 
seventh the population, will always be a 
higher cost network per household than 
many, but we will continue to strive for 
efficiencies while staying within the 
regulatory framework for safety and 
performance. 

We continue to strive to improve our 
service to customers and to the wider 
community while ensuring we add value 
to beneficiaries represented by our 
5hareholder, WESCT. The Board will 
continue to challenge staff to think 
innovatively, embrace technology and 
act responsibly to develop and implement 
ideas which contribute to this, and in 
particular address issues of energy 
hardship through targeted initiatives. 

The Board believes technology will play 
a key role in our sector and company in 
the future. It is critical we understand the 
implications, risk, and potential of new 
technology for our customers — and that 
will require ongoing investment. We need 
to be constantly driving new ideas and 
challenging the way we do things. 

In doing so, we invested some time ago 
in start-up company Embrium Holdings, 
taking a 36 per cent shareholding. After 
significant consideration, the Board has 
taken a very conservative decision to 
impair our investment in Embrium, 
including the loan, equating to a total 
write-down of $3.2 million before tax. 
We remain actively looking for ways to 
extract maximum value from the 

Looking ahead
Chair’s Report

The 2018–2019 year has seen a 
generational change in the pricing system 
for The Lines Company. In what was a 
two-year project with substantial 
community consultation, we moved to 
a Time of Use (TOU) system which gives 
customers more transparency, equity, 
simplicity and immediacy. That was a 
major milestone for the business and 
sets up TLC for further changes in the 
next period, supporting a clear strategic 
direction.

The implementation of the new pricing 
structure from October 2018 was the 
culmination of almost two years of 
intense work. Our pricing structure 
needed to provide the capital required 
for critical investment in our network, 
and an appropriate price signal to drive 
asset efficiency. The new pricing system 
achieves both while also addressing 
some adverse and perverse outcomes of 
the previous pricing system. It also aligns 
well with the wider direction set for the 
sector by the Electricity Authority. 

The Board appreciated the input into the 
new pricing system from community 
leaders and customer groups who freely 
gave their time as we scoped the project. 
This included the Trustees of the Waitomo 
Energy Services Customer Trust (WESCT). 
Our constructive relationship with 
WESCT continued throughout the year 
and in December 2018, the Trust and the 
company jointly advised that all WESCT 
beneficiaries would receive a discount 
credited to customer accounts, as a more 
tax efficient distribution made under an 
IRD binding ruling. The $5.6 million plus 
GST discount is the equal highest for a 
decade and of demonstrable value to 
our wider community.

We will see the highest level of capital 
spend ever in the next year to ensure 
we have a safe and robust network. 
A number of major projects — like those 
at Hangatiki and in Ōtorohanga have 
been brought to completion, providing 
a very strong platform for the future.

During the year the company has taken 
keen interest in, and contributed to, the 
government-led Electricity Price Review 
which considered issues of fairness and 
affordability as well as competition and 
efficiency. An Options Report released in 
February 2019 made specific note of the 
unique challenges faced by The Lines 
Company which supplies energy in an 
operationally challenging environment, 
servicing a community for whom 
affordability can be a major issue. 
We have stayed highly engaged with 

investment, and the write-down is a  
non-cash item as part of an aggressive 
one-off tidy up of our balance sheet. 

A number of other one-off costs were 
borne this year. The largest was moving 
from billing in advance to billing in arrears. 
While this effectively gave most customers 
a month's grace in payments, it also 
impacted our cashflow by $3 million. 
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Also a capped transition discount was 
applied that will reduce customer energy 
costs by $3.9 million over the transition 
period (covering two financial years). We 
have also taken an extra depreciation 
charge of $1.3 million (before tax) in the 
year to address an historical asset register 
anomaly. This, coupled with the additional 
depreciation charges for the new billing 
system and increased network capital 
spend, created a depreciation movement 
of $1.8 million, Outside of these items, the 
business-as-usual performance of the 
business met Board expectations. A table, 
providing further detail, is provided at the 
conclusion of my commentary. 

Technology is always an area of focus 
and has significant opportunities. It was 
particularly pleasing to see the solid 
contribution made to the company by our 
wholly-owned subsidiary company, FCLM 
which is at the cutting edge of metering 
technology. We see good opportunity to 
grow that business further and recently 
employed a dedicated CEO for that 
business, Mike Ullrich, to give it resource 
and focus to succeed at higher levels.

The Board has directed Management 
to continue considering how we can, 
on behalf of our community, leverage 
investment in areas like electric vehicle 
(EV) technology and local energy 
solutions such as solar power and large, 
rechargeable batteries. In the coming 
years, we look forward to seeing those 
innovations come forward for 
consideration so we can, if and when 
appropriate, adopt them and put them 
in place to benefit our customers and 
wider community. 

Changes to the Board during the year 
mean we are better placed than ever to 
consider strategic opportunities for our 
company, including advances in 
technology. In September 2018, WESCT 
announced the appointments of Craig 
Richardson and Andrew Johnson to the 
Board, replacing retiring Directors 
Richard Krogh and Tim Densem. Both 
Andrew and Craig are welcome additions 
and bring with them outstanding 
experience and skills, including 
experience in new technology. I thank 
both Richard and Tim for their service 
and also thank my fellow Directors for 
their ongoing support and commitment 
to The Lines Company, its customers and 
wider community throughout the year. 
Subsequent to the end of the financial 
year John Rae also retired with WESCT 
undertaking an appointment process 
which is still a work in progress.

The last two years have seen a huge 
workload borne by the Board as we 
reshaped the Senior Leadership Team 
and worked through the pricing change. 
My personal thanks and gratitude to my 
Board colleagues for their commitment 
and diligence.

Finally, I would like to thank our Chief 
Executive Sean Horgan and his team for 
the fortitude and diligence shown by 
them during the last year. It is very 
pleasing to see the continued strong 
focus on health and safety and also the 
strengthening of wider community and 
stakeholder relationships. The Board is 
well aware that Sean and his team run a 
demanding business. I thank them for 

accepting those challenges and continuing 
their very strong commitment to finding 
solutions which are in the best interests 
of customers and the community we are 
entrusted to serve.

In my report last year I suggested the 
2018–2019 year would be a ‘pivotal’ one 
for The Lines Company and this has been 
proven correct. As we head into another 
financial year, I look forward to seeing the 
significant changes made during the last 
financial year bedded in and further 
improvements and enhancements made.

The 2019–2020 year sees a major Board-
driven strategic review of many parts of 
the wider business, carefully broken 
down into work streams that will inform 
our medium to longer term strategy. We 
will continue to focus on core activities 
including generation, distribution and 
metering and will continue our prudent 
approach in order to boost overall 
efficiency.

Our sector remains a dynamic 
environment and the Board is 
determined to position The Lines 
Company as an efficient and valuable 
community owned asset that contributes 
to consumer well-being and economic 
development.

Mark Darrow
Chair, Board of Directors

Normalised Performance
2019  

$’000
2018  

$’000

EBITDA from normal operations 21,102 21,792
Add

Other income from gifted assets – 1,886

Deduct

Transition discount due to TOU (1,995) –

Share in associate loss (542) (326)

Expenses relating to implementation of TOU (906) (570)

EBITDA 17,659 22,782

EBIT from normal operations1 10,357 11,123
Adjustments made at EBITDA from normal operations level2 (3,443) 990

Deduct

Movement in depreciation3 (1,772) (76)

Impairment of associate and assets (3,211) (214)

EBIT 1,931 11,823

1 Movement from EBITDA to EBIT includes normal adjustments for depreciation and amortisation 
2 This is a summary of the adjustments outside of normal operations that were reflected in the table above  
3 Movement in depreciation includes a $1,324k prior period adjustment for Network revaluation
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Chief Executive’s Report

When we began the year, we were 
acutely aware that our business 
had some way to go in respect to 
improving our systems and assets 
while engaging with our customers 
and our wider community. The Lines 
Company has an important role to 
play in our community and it’s one 
we take seriously. We’ve worked 
hard this year to be more visible, 
communicate more clearly, and 
work more closely with those who 
rely upon us.

Community engagement has been 
particularly important over the 
last 12 months because of the 
introduction of our new pricing 
structure in October 2018. The new 
system was developed in response 
to customer feedback which said our 
bills were hard to understand and 
control. In response, we launched a 
new and transparent way of pricing.

The introduction of the new pricing 
system was a significant task, 
impacting on all parts of our 
organisation. While this way of 
charging is well-known within our 
industry, it required detailed analysis 
and modelling along with a material 
investment in new systems, 
processes and staff training. I want 
to acknowledge and thank those 
involved for the enormous effort 
they put in over many months. I 
would also like to acknowledge the 
support of our shareholder, the 
Waitomo Energy Services Customer 
Trust (WESCT) which provided wise 
counsel before, during and after the 
launch of the new pricing system. 

When implementing our new pricing 
structure, we recognised that we 
needed to give our customers time 
to adapt. To assist, we introduced a 

transition discount that will remain in 
place until, the end of September 
2019. Specifically, the New Pricing 
Transition Discount which was put in 
place to support those most affected 
while they adapt to the change, came 
at a cost of $1.9 million this year. At 
the same time, we developed a new 
payment programme — SmoothPay 
— to smooth the highs and lows of 
the bills we send our customers. 

The new pricing was one of many 
major changes undertaken during 
the year and as part of this, we took 
a very serious and prudent look at 
our balance sheet, making a number 
of non-cash adjustments outlined in 
detail within the body of this report. 
We took a conservative approach to 
the valuation of our assets including 
a prior period adjustment for 
depreciation. 

We also strengthened our 
commitment to addressing historical 
infrastructure issues across our 
network that were negatively 
impacting the reliability of supply. 
This investment came at a cost of 
$18 million. 

Our wholly-owned subsidiary 
company, Financial Corporation Ltd 
— Metering (FCLM), performed well 
in 2018–2019 and will continue to 
grow and be an important part of 
our business. Our three 
hydrogeneration sites, which 
improve the reliability of supply to 
a number of smaller communities, 
also performed well. Our scheme on 
the Mangapehi Stream was granted 
a 35-year resource consent in May 
2018, enabling it to supplement the 
local power supply for many years 
to come.

A year of resolve
Last year was both a demanding and rewarding 
one for The Lines Company as we resolved to 
provide our customers and our wider community 
with the best service and outcomes possible.
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team to encourage greater 
collaboration and innovative 
thinking. Sue Lomas was appointed 
to a newly created general manager’s 
role focussed on people and safety 
and Mike Fox was promoted to 
general manager, network. 

Our focus on offering opportunities 
to local people also continued. 
Around 80 per cent of our staff are 
local – working and living in their own 
communities, alongside their families 
and friends. We also continued to 
invest in the wider community, 
contributing $97,000 in sponsorship 
or community funding to a number 
of projects, most of them focused on 
whānau or young people. 

We also worked hard to be an 
economic enabler and during the 
year we proactively worked with 
local accommodation and tourism 
businesses to install 25 electric 
vehicle (EV) chargers throughout 
our network. We invested in EVs 
ourselves, putting one EV plus two 
plug-in hybrids on the road as part 
of our normal fleet replacement 
programme.

One further area of focus was the 
establishment in August 2018 of 
the Maru Energy Efficiency Trust. 
We know that warmer homes are 
healthier homes and have already 
identified 50 homes to receive 
insulation. In the coming year, The 
Lines Company will continue to 
support Maru as much as possible 
to help facilitate home insulation 
and  energy efficiency initiatives 
for those in need.

At The Lines Company, we have 
finished the year as we began; with 
a resolve to do what is best for our 
community and our customers. I 
thank our Board for challenging us 
to constantly improve and I sincerely 
thank all of our staff for everything 
that they do. It is not always easy and 
I recognise that. In the year ahead 
The Lines Company will continue to 
do all it can to be a strong, 
dependable and valued member 
of our wider community.

Sean Horgan
Chief Executive

Notwithstanding our financial 
challenges we did, with the ongoing 
support of WESCT, continue to 
maintain our commitment to our 
shareholder WESCT, crediting 
discounts of $5.6 million + GST to 
customer accounts.

Ongoing investment in our network 
will continue to be a major area of 
focus well into the future. Our 
customers, quite rightly, demand a 
secure and reliable power supply. 
A secure and resilient electricity 
network is essential to support 
economic growth and long-term 
prosperity for our region.

In 2018, after a major review of our 
Asset Management Plan, we signalled 
we would lift our capital expenditure 
by 50 per cent, investing up to 
$15 million per year on average over 
the next decade on maintaining and 
upgrading our existing assets. Our 
commitment to this area was 
vigorously maintained during the 
year, indicating a much more 
comprehensive approach to 
planning and asset management.

It will take some time for the long-
term investments we are making in 
our network to come to fruition and 
in the meantime, we will continue 
to be measured by our regulated 
reliability targets.

During the year, as anticipated, we 
did not meet those targets because 
of the largest planned programme 
of maintenance and upgrades to our 
network in recent times.

With strong support from the Board, 
our commitment to health and 
safety remained unequivocal. Last 
year The Lines Company employed 
some 150+ people and we want all 
of them, along with all of our service 
providers, to return home from 
work, unharmed every day. Safety is 
not a ‘top-down’ initiative; it is simply 
part of what we do. However there is 
still more we can do — and should 
do — to keep people from harm. 

Given that, health and safety will 
continue to be a personal, top 
priority for me and for my senior 
leadership team.  

Our investment in health and safety 
was further reflected in the ongoing 
investment we made in our own 
people during the year. I made 
changes in my own senior leadership 

Sometimes support 
is uncoordinated 
or doesn’t always 
translate well into 

local situations. 
A warm, healthy 

home is a basic need. 

Maru can increase 
the number of warm 
homes in our region 
and I’m contributing 
my knowledge and 

experience to achieving 
a local solution to 
the local issue of 

uninsulated homes.

Local solutions to local issues
The chance to do practical, 
targeted and potentially life-
changing things for people’s 
health and participation in their 
community is fundamental to 
Christine’s kaupapa and vision 
as trustee on our newly-formed 
Maru Energy Efficiency Trust.

Christine Brears, ONZM 
Trustee Maru Energy Efficiency Trust  

Chief Executive Taumarunui 
Community Kokiri Trust
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Who we are

Kaitiaki

As we look to the future, there will be 
continued emphasis on driving change that 
links us more closely to our community.
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66
monthly customer catch up 
sessions at five locations  
throughout our region

40
community events and projects 
were proudly supported by TLC 
in 2018–2019

80%
of The Lines Company staff  
live and work in the region

FACTS AT A GLANCE

13



Our Community
Brook Park Fireworks, Christmas in 
the Park, bucket truck rides at The 
Muster, manning sausage sizzles, 
Anzac and Cancer Society collection 
boxes and fundraising to provide 
Bikes for Kids or for lifesaving 
medical treatment for one of our 
community were some of the many 
opportunities we took to engage 
and contribute more directly.

During 2018-2019 we invested 
$97,000 in community funding and 
sponsorship, supporting more than 
40 different projects mainly aimed at 
families, young people and initiatives 
to support energy efficiency.

More than 2,300 junior players 
continue to benefit from a new four-
year sponsorship arrangement with 
King Country junior rugby, while 
Piopio Pool held 75 “Learn to Swim” 

and 35 community sessions 
involving more than 1500 people. 
Further south, Taumarunui Youth 
and Community Trust’s After School 
Programme catered to 3,282 young 
people across 28 sports and 
activities.  

Last year we launched the TLC 
Inspiring Local Minds Scholarship 
programme, helping fund five local 
young people undertaking tertiary 
study or training. In August, we 
established the Maru Energy 
Efficiency Trust as a not-for-profit 
charitable trust to help local homes 
become warmer, drier and healthier.

We are proud of these contributions 
because they help our communities 
thrive.

With TLC being local, 
players can relate to their 

sponsor, and we know 
our kids will thrive thanks 

to their support.  
It’s about teamwork,  

and we’re thrilled to have 
TLC on our team!

Susan Youngman  
General Manager, King Country 

Rugby Football Union

Ours is a diverse, caring community and this 
year we have worked hard at being a more 
active and visible participant in it.
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Engagement
Our customers are at the heart of 
what we do and, within our sector, 
our direct relationship with them 
is a source of envy. 

From monthly face-to-face 
opportunities in their community, 
through this year’s near 27,000 
calls to our contact centre, to the 
introduction of online help and  
real-time information about network 
activity, we are in constant touch 
with our customers.

Our updates with major customers 
and local and regional organisations 
help us to understand our region’s 
economic development plans and, 
through the network, contribute to 
them. We have been involved in four 
separate electric vehicle collaborations 
with local authorities in our area 
and continue to discuss other 
opportunities with potential 
partners. 

At a national level, we are a willing 
participant in the Electricity Pricing 
Review offering a helpful and unique 
viewpoint due to our geographical 
location and our singular customer 
relationship.  

Employment
Our staff are not only our strength, 
but also our most important 
resource. Last year, we had 154 casual 
and fixed-term staff — 97 men and 
57 women — performing 75 different 
jobs. Each night, 25 people from our 
team are on call to make sure our 
customers stay connected to our 
network. 

Most of our staff (80 per cent) live 
and work in our region. So as well as 
being part of our team, our staff are 
also our customers. In staff salaries 

We’re a small team 
covering a big area so we 
get to do things that we 
wouldn’t elsewhere. It’s 
satisfying figuring out 
problems, working with 
people for solutions and 
helping our community. 
Ben Albany, Line Design Engineer 
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Years of surveyor and architectural 
design experience, plus some 
involvement with TLC, sparked 
Ben’s interest, making line mechanic 
training his next step.

Since then diversity of work, going 
the ‘extra mile’ and openness to 
opportunity has seen him work on 
lines and faults, specialise in high-
voltage generators, manage permits 
and vegetation, and design the lines 
that carry power around our region, 
all in quick succession.

Working with people for solutions 

Line design 
engineer Ben 
Albany thrives on 
challenge and 
practical solutions.

and wages alone, more than $10 million 
was injected into the local economy by 
The Lines Company last year.

We remain committed to offering 
our people fulfilling jobs and career 
pathways. In the past financial year 
we twice opened up our trainee line 
mechanic programme with a strong 
emphasis on recruiting smart, local 
people with the right attitude. We 
welcome these seven new trainees to 
our business and look forward to seeing 
their careers, and that of our apprentice 
electrician, progress.
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Network Performance
Last year we spent around 
$20.5 million maintaining our existing 
assets and on investment in new 
equipment to improve reliability and 
allow for growth.  We completed our 
usual annual inspection of a third of 
the network’s power poles, installed 
645 new ones and made detailed 
assessments of a further 2,145. In 
addition, our staff or contractors 
installed 67 new transformers and 
62 new high voltage switches. 

We invested $6.6 million in key areas 
like the Te Waireka and Hangatiki 
substation upgrades and work at 
Taumarunui to secure supply, grow 
capacity and ensure that, over time, 
there will be a reduction in unplanned 
power outages. In addition, we 
invested $9.2 million specifically on 
line renewal and replacement work. 

Each year we inspect thousands of 
kilometres of power line. Last year 
we inspected 283km on foot or by 
vehicle and 1,968km using helicopters 
that are essential because of the 
difficult terrain. In December 2018, 
for the first time, we trialled drones, 
enabling us to inspect another 56km 
of hard-to-access lines. 

Weather and other events beyond 
our control once again contributed to 
SAIDI and SAIFI through unplanned 
interruptions to our customers’ 
power supply.

SAIDI and SAIFI are the two reliability 
targets we must meet. SAIDI 
measures the time in minutes on 
average during the year a customer 
on our network is without electricity 
supply. SAIFI measures the frequency, 
or how often on average, of a planned 
or unplanned interruption. 

On average over the year a customer 
was without power 4.4 times. 
Where this was due to our planned 
maintenance work the average 
duration was 74 minutes. Where the 
outage was unplanned  — weather 
events, vehicle accidents or similar — 
the average duration was 212 
minutes*.

In December a major Transpower 
issue cut supply into our Hangatiki 
substation leaving some 9000 of 
our customers without power for 
an extended period of time, while 
we assisted their technicians resolve 
the problem.  

In our asset management plan we flagged 
a 50 per cent lift in capital expenditure 
— to an average of $15 million per year — 
each year for the next decade to support 
a projected 25 per cent jump in demand 
on our network.  

What we do

Ngā mahi

67
new transformers were 
installed last year

645
new poles installed

$9.2m
on line renewals

*  Figures are calculated using Commerce 
Commission regulatory methodology 
for SAIDI and SAIFI.
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Around 1330 customers in Tokaanu, 
Tūrangi and Kuratau were without 
power for several hours and into the 
night at the beginning of Queen’s 
Birthday weekend before we 
received clearance to enter and 
restore power following a fatal 
vehicle accident that brought down 
the pole and lines carrying the main 
supply into the area.   

In April, gale force winds and a 
tornado downed trees and lines 
making Central North Island roads 
impassable, and destroying several 
houses at National Park. High winds 
and lightning strikes were a theme 
across the network, with some 
30,000 strikes recorded across the 
North Island on 14 December. 

The year also saw some of coldest 
and hottest recorded temperatures. 
In February, we took the precaution 
of issuing a high risk alert, delaying 
automatic trip restarts to avoid the 
risk of igniting fires in the tinder dry 
conditions. 

We improved our website and mail 
outs to provide customers clearer 
and more easily accessible 
information about those times when 
we have maintenance work planned 
on their lines. Our work keeping 
customers and community up-to-
date throughout major work at our 
Te Waireka substation upgrade and 
extensive Ōtorohanga line renewal 
programme earned particular 
appreciation from that community. 

*  historic 2016/17 information for a 12 month period (not aligned to a 
financial year). Data uses TLC historic pricing methodology at that time.

** includes motels and holiday homes

How the 
energy we 
deliver is 

used*

Residential 
27%

Dairy 
9%

Temporary 
Accommodation** 
5%

General 
14%

Major 
Customers  
45%

Our  
customers 
(by Individual 
Connection 

Point)

Residential 
59%

General  
22%

Temporary 
Accommodation**  

17%

Dairy 
2%

Major 
Customers 
<1%

** includes motels and holiday homes
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Seeing TLC’s and our 
team’s progress, and 
what we accomplish 
for our communities 
is phenomenal.
Joel Williams, Project Manager

Trees
Trees growing too close to our power 
lines continued to be problematic. 

Tree maintenance cost the company 
about $1 million over the year, 
equating to about $80–$110 per 
customer. Additionally, more than 
$700,000 was spent fixing faults 
caused by trees falling on lines. 

$ 110 
cost per customer per  
year to maintain trees 

60% 
of storm-related power 
outages are due to trees

Up to

Over

But it’s the range and complexity of 
projects and the opportunities for 
his own growth over two years at TLC 
that lead him to say, “I simply love 
working for this company.”

For Joel project management isn’t 
about cost alone. It’s about getting 
good results for our customers 
through quality relationships, clear 
communication, using staff to best 
effect, managing all the possible risks 
and treating each dollar “as if I were 
spending my own.”

Accomplishing phenomenal things

Managing exciting, 
multi-million dollar 
projects for our 
communities is 
what Joel does. 

With around 60–70 per cent of power 
outages in storms nationwide due to 
trees, in April we joined our voice 
to the industry’s calling for an urgent 
government review of regulations 
surrounding trees around power 
lines. The Electricity (Hazards from 
Trees) Regulations have not been 
reviewed since 2003 when they came 
into effect.

Last year we felled more than 13,500 
trees to protect our power lines and 
keep customers connected in the case 
of storm and other events. 
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Health & Safety
Health and safety is both a company 
value and a shared responsibility at 
TLC. Ensuring every single person 
working for and with us returns 
home, unharmed, every day is a 
key focus at our Board and senior 
leadership levels. 

It is our top priority and actively 
articulated within and across the 
business. Our Health and Safety 
Roadmap has identified the key work 
streams required to support our goals 
over the next few years, and our 
approach where safety and well-
being will be given equal emphasis.

Over the last two years we have 
made great progress with the 
systems and processes that support 
better planning and reporting. We 
continue to increase health and 
safety awareness and competence 
through relevant training and 
information.

Progress is assessed against a range 
of measures including the Global 
Safety Index (GSI), which determines 
a company’s safety culture against 
like companies around the world. We 
first used this benchmarking process 
in 2017 and will again in June 2019.

Our Health and Safety Forum is 
integral in leading health and safety 
discussions and important to our 
staff engaging and participating in 
decision-making.

0.92* 
Total Recordable Injury 
Frequency Rate per 200,000 
work hours

0.46* 
Lost Time Injury Frequency 
Rate per 200,000 work hours
*12 month average

83
site safety visits by management

 27%
Proactive reporting

In the coming year we will 
concentrate on safety leadership, 
managing risk and increasing staff 
engagement and participation in 
all matters health and safety. 
Additionally, we have identified 
11 critical risks and will begin by 
focusing on two across the company: 
moving vehicles and electricity. 

Caring for our people keeps them 
healthy as well as safe, and remains 
a focus in ensuring physical and 
mental well-being have equal focus. 

The health and well-being of our 
people is a core work stream for 
us. Access to Employee Assistance 
Programme (EAP), free annual 
influenza vaccinations, providing 
regular first aid training (including 
in the use of defibrillators) and 
ensuring all new employees are drug 
and alcohol free before they join us, 
are some of the initiatives we have 
to encourage personal resilience 
and mental health and well-being.

During the year more than 50 of our 
people had specific training in first 
aid and we have 18 defibrillators in 
vehicles and buildings. In addition, 
we held six full safety days providing 
specialized training for operational, 
engineering and control room staff. 

We also invested in technology 
specifically aimed at keeping those 
staff who must occasionally work 
alone, in isolated areas, safe. 

Given the terrain we work in, this is 
sometimes unavoidable but safety 
cannot be compromised.

Our technology uses mobile 
and satellite safety coverage 
ensuring we can monitor where our 
field staff are at all times, providing 
a system which gives colleagues back 
at base confidence no one has been 
hurt while doing their job.
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Where we’re going 

Ki tua

FACTS AT A GLANCE

$2.7m
on targeted improvements  
over the next year

50
homes to receive 
insulation
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Many of the options address the need for 
electricity prices to be fair and affordable, 
not just efficient and competitive.
Electricity Price Review, Options Paper for Discussion, February 2019

21



FCLM
Our wholly-owned subsidiary 
company, FCLM is a growing part of 
our business. FCLM now provides 
40,000 smart meters across New 
Zealand, working with 45 retailers 
and is also the meter provider of 
choice to all major solar installers 
across the country.

Last year we began providing meter 
data for Trustpower following its 
purchase of King Country Energy 
and ensured their eight-strong 
meter reading team remained 
employed with us throughout the 
King Country.  

As part of our new pricing project, 
we liaised with all retailers on the 
network about remote and manual 
meter configuration and data 
reconciliation for more than 
21,000 meters. 

We also travelled more than 
250,000 km checking between 300–
400 meters each day. We received 
2.4 terabytes of information via 
FCLM smart meters. That figure, 
and our commitment to better 
data, will grow. 

Electric vehicles
We’re supporting electric vehicle 
(EV) technology, installing 25 
charger units at accommodation 
and tourism sites across the King 
Country and Central Plateau. We 
worked closely on these installations 
with technology partner Embrium, 
whose GoodMeasure software 
connects and provides usage 
and other data from a unit to 
the charger’s owners and users. 

Over the year we have been 
involved in further electric vehicle 
initiatives with local authorities to 
support and enable EVs, including 
those driven by visitors, to be 
active in our region. 

We invested in EVs ourselves 
introducing one electric car and 
two plug-in hybrids as part of 
our normal fleet replacement 
programme.

Embrium
FCLM also owns a 36 per cent 
share in Embrium Holdings Ltd, 
— a Wellington-based company 
that provides services that 
allow real-time monitoring of 
energy through to a customer’s 
connection.

With electric vehicles 
fundamentally changing the 
energy industry, Embrium’s 
GoodMeasure platform 
provides intelligent computing 
at the grid edge and is already 
being used by many major 
networks, retailers, metering 
providers and energy 
management specialists.

New technologies
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Clearwater Hydro
More than 50 per cent of 
New Zealand’s electricity comes 
from hydrogeneration. We already 
own two hydrogeneration stations 
(Mangapehi and Matawai) and have 
a 75% interest in a third station 
(Speedys Road). We operate and 
maintain all three sites. Together 
they produce enough power each 
year for 3,560 average Kiwi homes. 

The electricity our hydro sites 
produce benefits small 
communities on our network 
like Taharoa, Te Anga, Marokopa, 
Benneydale, Kopaki, Puketutu 
and Waipa Valley, as well as 
those surrounding Matawai 
near Gisborne and connected 
to the Eastland network. 

All three hydro sites are ‘run 
of river’ with a total of around 
188 million m3 of water running 
over them each year. One day of 
hydrogeneration is able to light 
6.8 million regular 10 watt LED 
lightbulbs. 

Other technology
Various technological tools support 
us in triaging and better managing 
our assets through providing a full, 
rather than partial picture.

From December 2018 we began 
using drones to map line routes 
and assess the condition of power 
poles and cross-arms. Drones 
working on behalf of The Lines 
Company have now spent around 
24 hours in the air, safely and cost-
effectively mapping nearly 56 km 
of power lines across challenging 
terrain.  

Using ultrasonic technology to 
assess the remaining strength of 
wooden poles is non-destructive 
and allows us to ‘see’ inside the 
pole providing accurate data to 
better understand and manage 
our assets, while saving time, 
costs and resources. 

Going forward we expect to 
increasingly use 3-D modelling 
in our work and, as we better 
understand the impact of EV 
technology on our network, 
continue to explore EVSE (Electric 
Vehicle Supply Equipment) 
products to provide the right 
support in our region. 

Increasingly we are automating 
more of our network to reduce 
the number of customers affected 
by an outage, and identifying the 
place of local energy solutions 
such as solar power and large, 
rechargeable batteries.
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Since we began using 
them in December 
2018 drones working 
on behalf of The Lines 
Company have saved 
some $700,000 in 
costs. 

24



We use ultrasonic 
technology to assess the 
remaining strength of a 
wooden pole helping us 
understand and plan our 
assets better, while saving 
time, costs and resources.
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Nigel Chetty / Trustee
Raised in Ōtorohanga, Nigel is an 
experienced business and customer 
services manager. As a passionate 
community advocate, he has an 
educated awareness of the issues 
facing TLC's customers relevant to 
the supply and use of energy.

Nigel believes that at a governance 
level WESCT has obligations to 
deliver effective customer 
representation, to ensure the long-
term sustainability of TLC and to 
enable affordable energy supply. 

Kyle Barnes / Trustee
With a lifetime’s experience in 
Waitomo tourism, Kyle’s keen 
interest in business and finance 
sits alongside strong family and 
community values. 

He believes the Trust has an 
important job guiding The Lines 
Company as an important strategic 
community resource that will 
continue to add value for its 
beneficiaries and customers  
within a rapidly changing  
electricity industry landscape. 

WESCT Trust  
from left to right:

Nigel Chetty 
Trustee
Kyle Barnes 
Trustee
Erin Gray 
Chairperson
William Oliver 
Trustee
Janette Osborne 
Trustee
Peter Keeling 
Deputy Chairperson

Erin Gray / Chairperson
Of Ngāti Maniapoto and Ngā Rauru 
descent, Erin is passionate about 
people and is heavily invested in 
wanting to make a difference for 
her iwi and community.

Erin sees The Lines Company as an 
important intergenerational asset 
that plays a large role in contributing 
towards the economic and social 
well-being of the wider Maniapoto 
community, both as a major 
employer and contributor to the 
economic landscape within the 
King Country. 

WESCT Trust
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William Oliver / Trustee
King Country born and bred,  
William farms alongside holding 
a number of governance roles.

He believes strongly in 
WESCT’s responsibility for this 
intergenerational asset and the 
Trust’s role ensuring the company 
runs efficiently, provides an 
affordable electricity supply and the 
highest levels of service practicable 
in the region’s challenging 
environment. 

He sees TLC as an economic enabler 
providing meaningful benefits, while 
supporting community energy 
efficiency initiatives. 

Janette Osborne / Trustee
A qualified accountant with 
more than 20 years’ corporate and 
government experience, Waitomo 
Caves-based Janette is a company 
director, regional industry 
representative and small business 
owner.

She believes the Trust and its 
ownership of The Lines Company 
are very important community 
assets and is honoured to contribute 
to its governance and strategy on 
behalf of all its beneficial owners. 

Peter Keeling / Deputy Chairperson
Local resident and agricultural 
consultant, Peter sees this as an 
important time for the company  
as a result of changes in technology 
and energy sources. 

He believes in intergenerational 
community ownership of TLC and 
that the financial and governance 
experience he brings will help guide 
the right balance between excellent 
investment for those owners and 
great service to TLC’s customers.

TLC is wholly-owned by 
WESCT — the Waitomo 
Energy Services Customer 
Trust — on behalf of the 
wider community.
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Board of 
Directors

Simon Young
An experienced director with more 
than 20 years’ experience in the New 
Zealand electricity industry, Simon 
has worked throughout the value 
chain from start-up, corporate 
investment and divestment, through 
operations management, and public 
and private company governance.

Simon’s earlier career in economic 
and market development saw him 
practising in six industry sectors in 
a dozen different countries. He is 
currently director of a number of 
other corporate organisations.

Mark Darrow / Chair
Mark is an experienced businessman 
and professional director, specialising 
in corporate governance. He has a 
number of chair and director roles 
across a range of significant 
companies in New Zealand including 
NZTA, Primary ITO, Armstrong Motor 
Group, Balle Brothers Group and 
Trustees Executors.

He is a member of the New Zealand 
Institute of Chartered Accountants, a 
Chartered Fellow of the New Zealand 
Institute of Directors and a Justice of 
the Peace.  

John Rae
John brings a broad range of national 
and international infrastructure, 
engineering, construction, technology, 
investment and banking governance 
and management experience to the 
board.

He is currently director or chair of 
a number of boards, including the 
National Infrastructure Advisory 
Board which provides independent 
advice to Treasury and the Minister 
for Infrastructure. 
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Board of Directors  
from left to right:

John Rae
Simon Young 
Mark Darrow 
Chair
Roger Sutton
Andrew Johnson
Craig Richardson

Roger Sutton
Director of a number of boards, 
Roger brings a strong background 
in infrastructure and the electricity 
sector to the board.

Formerly Chief Executive of Orion 
New Zealand Ltd and the Canterbury 
Earthquake Recovery Authority 
(CERA), Roger’s governance roles 
include the Energy Efficiency and 
Conservation Authority (EECA), 
Connetics, Energy Developments 
and Energetics.  He is a Fellow of the 
Institute of Professional Engineers 
and a Member of the New Zealand 
Institute of Directors.

Andrew Johnson
Andrew’s commercial background 
spans a diverse set of industries, 
including farming, forestry and 
tourism. He has significant 
technology and data systems 
experience and enjoys engaging 
with communities for improved 
outcomes.

He is currently managing director 
of IT Partners Group and has 
governance roles with Te Kūiti-based 
Inframax Construction Limited, the 
Waikato Anglican College Trust and 
the University of Waikato’s Audit and 
Risk Committee. 

Craig Richardson
Craig is an internationally 
experienced CEO, CFO and non-
executive director across the 
infrastructure, technology, 
manufacturing and FMCG sectors.

Currently a partner at professional 
advisory board firm Faraday, Craig 
advises a number of small and mid-
market enterprises. He is a director 
of the Institute of Minerals to 
Materials Research and has 
previously been a non-executive 
director of private and listed 
companies, crown entities and was 
President of CPA Australia in NZ.
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David Kitchen / GM — FCL Metering
David has many years’ experience in 
New Zealand’s electricity metering 
sector and is responsible for our 
wholly-owned subsidiary, FCLM, 
supplying metering equipment, 
data and associated services to New 
Zealand retailers, developers and 
lines companies, including to TLC.

He thrives on delivering excellent 
customer, financial and people 
results in large, complex, high 
volume and time-critical 
environments. 

Senior 
Leadership 
Team

Audrey Scheurich / GM — Finance
Audrey brings more than 20 years’ 
experience in senior financial roles, 
as well as significant commercial 
experience in the infrastructure 
sector to our team.

She is responsible for providing 
financial and commercial support 
to the business to ensure strong 
financial management. 

Mike Fox / GM — Network
Mike has worked in the electricity 
industry for 15 years, bringing an 
extensive background in asset 
management, planning, engineering 
and strategic direction to the team.

He is responsible for the short and 
long-term management of our 
network assets and is passionate 
about making sure customers have 
a safe, reliable, electricity supply. 
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Senior Leadership Team  
from left to right:

David Kitchen 
GM — FCL Metering 
Audrey Scheurich 
GM — Finance 
Mike Fox 
GM — Network
Jo Ireland 
GM — Customer Service 
& Communications
Sean Horgan 
Chief Executive
Sue Lomas 
GM — People & Safety

Jo Ireland / GM — Customer  
Service & Communications
Jo’s senior management background 
is in the banking, health and local 
government sectors. She’s led 
teams, often through change and 
challenging times, to successfully 
deliver work programmes. Previous 
portfolios include communications, 
customer service, strategy, economic 
development and iwi liaison.

She is passionate about strong 
customer and stakeholder 
relationships and open and 
transparent communication.

Sean Horgan / Chief Executive
Sean has extensive and successful 
business development, strategic 
management and operational 
leadership experience within the 
New Zealand and international 
energy sectors.

As well as Chief Executive, he is 
an industry representative on the 
Utilities Disputes Energy Complaints 
Scheme Advisory Committee, a 
director of our subsidiary Speedys 
Road Hydro Ltd and a foundation 
trustee of the Maru Energy 
Efficiency Trust. 

Sue Lomas / GM — People & Safety
Sue’s management experience 
in human resources and safety 
management spans the chemical, 
manufacturing and consulting 
industries both in the UK and in 
New Zealand.

She leads people-related activities 
in the business, providing strategic 
direction, tactical and operational 
support and advice, and is 
responsible for leading the strategy 
for developing a high-performing 
company culture.
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Financial 
Statements
The introduction of a fundamentally 
new pricing system during the year 
had a significant financial impact on 
the company.

In addition to the work involved in 
developing and introducing a new 
pricing model, a transition discount 
was introduced and will be in place 
until the end of September 2019. 
For the first two quarters of the year, 
until 30 March 2019, the company 
paid out $1.9 million as part of its 
discount commitment.  A further 
$1.9 million is budgeted to be 
expended on the transition discount 
by 30 September 2019 and this will 
impact on the coming 2019–2020 
financial year.

In addition to the transition discount,  
the change from billing customers in 
advance to billing in arrears, along 
with the increase in capital 
expenditure as forecast in our Asset 
Management Plan,  also impacted 
our cash flows and debt position.

As outlined in its Asset Management 
Plan, TLC actioned significant capital 
expenditure throughout the year in 
order to increase reliability of the 
network, secure supply and allow for 
growth.  This year saw $20.5 million 
spent in this critical area. Similar 
levels of capital expenditure continue 
to be forecast in coming years.

TLC, with the support of our 
shareholder Waitomo Energy 
Services Customer Trust, paid out 
$5.6 million (plus GST) in December 
2018 to Trust beneficiaries.
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Five-Year Trend Statement
Financial performance at 31 March 2019

2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

2016 
$’000

2015 
$’000

Revenue* 44,133 44,214 50,298 50,148 49,139

EBITDA 17,659 22,782 25,877 24,811 24,636

EBIT 1,931 11,823 14,900 13,383 13,466

EBIT and network discount 7,526 17,423 14,900 13,383 13,466

(Loss)/profit before tax (688) 9,100 12,093 10,725 10,543

(Loss)/profit after tax (1,587) 4,607 8,619 7,427 7,342

Network discounts granted 5,595 5,600 – – –

Operating cash flow before tax 13,866 18,777 24,211 22,342 21,302

Dividends paid – 200 5,300 5,000 5,000

Total assets 282,320 266,871 257,884 250,789 245,253

Shareholder funds 147,690 149,386 144,336 140,299 138,895

Shareholder equity 144,690 146,386 141,336 137,299 135,895

Debt to assets ratio 30.3% 25.9% 26.0% 26.0% 25.1%

Capital ratio 51.3% 54.9% 54.8% 54.7% 55.4%

(Loss)/return on average equity (1.1%) 3.2% 6.2% 5.4% 5.3%

(Loss)/earnings per share net of tax (cents) (13) 39 73 63 62

*Revenue for 2019 and 2018 is after paying customer discounts of $5.6 million. This was not paid in previous years.

Operating performance 
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Outage minutes per customer

Planned 74 38 65 33 38

Unplanned 212 205 187 159 148

Total 286 243 252 192 185

Outage per customer

Planned 0.50 0.25 0.43 0.20 0.21

Unplanned 3.20 3.50 2.96 3.19 2.86

Total 3.70 3.75 3.39 3.39 3.07
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Statement of Service Performance
Performance against targets set in the Statement of Corporate Intent for  
the year ended 31 March 2019 was as follows: (All dollar amounts are in $’000)

Actual Target
 

1.  Return on average assets 0.5% 4.3%

2.  Return on average equity
Average equity (including subordinated debentures) 148,538 153,251

(Loss)/return on equity (1.1%) 3.2%

3.  Borrowings (including subordinated debentures) 71,456 66,947

4.  Equity (including subordinated debentures) to assets ratio 53% >40%

5.  Dividends – –

6. Discount granted 5,595 5,600

7.  Reliability
The performance target relating to SAIDI and SAIFI reliability in the Statement of 
Corporate Intent was for TLC to not breach the reliability limits as set out in the 
Default Price Path Annual Compliance Statement.  The audited Default Price Path 
Annual Compliance Statement for the year to 31 March 2019 shows that TLC has 
exceeded the SAIDI and SAIFI limits. As a result TLC has breached the reliability limits. 

SAIDI

286 234

SAIFI

3.70 3.47

8.  Regulated revenues  

To have a Notional Revenue to Allowable Notional Revenue ratio as set out in the 
Default Price Path Annual Compliance Statement of between 80% and 100%.

79.2% >80%

9.  Funding of community projects
To expend up to $100,000 in supporting community projects. 97 <100

10. Safety  

Notifiable injuries that resulted in serious harm Nil Nil

Lost time hours / worked hours 236 per 
200,000

515 per 
200,000

Development of health and safety culture

The focus, of the company, is to continually improve our safety culture and 
performance. The lost time hour/worked hours measure is an industry standard 
measure that will enable us to compare our performance to others.

Not 
Maintained 

ACC Tertiary 
Status

Maintained 
ACC Tertiary 

Status
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Financial 
Statements
2019 Financial statements

The financial statements for the year ended 
31 March 2019 are signed on behalf of the 
board of directors by:

Mark Darrow
Chair, Board of Directors

27 August, 2019

Craig Richardson 
Director

27 August, 2019
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Note 2019  
$’000

2018  
$’000

   

Revenue from contracts with customers 1 44,133 44,214

Operating expenses 2 (25,932) (22,992)

Depreciation and amortisation 10&11 (12,517) (10,745)

Interest costs (net) 3 (2,619) (2,723)

Impairment of assets – (214)

Total expenses (41,068) (36,674)

Other income 4 – 1,886

Share of net loss of associate accounted for using the equity method 13 (542) (326)

Impairment of associate 13 (3,211)

(Loss)/profit before tax (688) 9,100

Income tax expense 5 (899) (4,493)

(Loss)/profit for the year (1,587) 4,607

(Loss)/profit for the year is attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent (1,574) 4,657

Non-controlling interest (13) (50)

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Revaluation of network assets, land and buildings 10 – 590

Income tax relating to revalued assets – (125)

Other comprehensive income for the year – 465

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Cash flow hedge reserve (150) 247

Income tax relating to cash flow hedges 41 (69)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of tax 13 (109) 178

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (1,696) 5,250

Total comprehensive (loss)/income is attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent (1,683) 5,300

Non-controlling interest (13) (50)
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 March 2019

Note 2019  
$’000

2018  
$’000

Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 7 725 566

Trade and other receivables 8 3,790 2,537

Contract assets 1 2,613 131

Current tax asset 16 263 –

Inventories 9 1,670 1,962

9,061 5,196

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 267,295 255,679

Intangible assets 11 4,895 2,166

Investments in equity accounted associate 13 – 2,753

Deferred tax asset 17 1,069 1,046

Other financial assets – 31

273,259 261,675

Total assets 282,320 266,871

 
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 6,861 4,393

Contract liabilities 1 2,190 2,155

Convertible notes issued by subsidiary 18 250 250

Other financial liabilities 23 2,537 2,306

Current tax liability 16 – 988

Provision for staff entitlements 20 1,416 1,214

13,254 11,306

Non-current liabilities
Bank borrowings 18 68,456 53,939

Other financial liabilities 23 – 81

Convertible notes issued by subsidiary 18 800 850

Subordinated debentures 18 3,000 3,000

Deferred tax liability 17 52,120 51,309

124,376 109,179

Total liabilities 137,630 120,485

Net assets 144,690 146,386

 
Equity 
Share capital 14 8,013 8,013

Retained earnings 57,093 57,710

Cash flow hedge deficit 14 (1,827) (1,718)

Revaluation reserves 14 80,625 81,582

Equity attributable to parent company 143,904 145,587

Non-controlling interest 15 786 799

Total equity 144,690 146,386
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 March 2019
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Restated balance as 
at 31 March 2017 8,013 53,253 (1,896) 81,117 140,487 849 141,336

Profit for the year – 4,657 – – 4,657 (50) 4,607

Other comprehensive income
Interest rate swaps – – 178 – 178 – 178

Revaluation of land and 
buildings – – – 465 465 – 465

Total other comprehensive 
income – – 178 465 643 – 643

Transactions with owners
Dividends 12 – (200) – – (200) – (200)

Total transactions with 
owners – (200) – – (200) – (200)

Balance as at 31 March 2018 8,013 57,710 (1,718) 81,582 145,587 799 146,386

             

Loss for the year – (1,574) – – (1,574) (13) (1,587)

Other comprehensive income
Interest rate swaps – – (109) – (109) – (109)

Revaluation of land and 
buildings – – – – – – –

Total other comprehensive 
income – – (109) – (109) – (109)

Transfer from retained 
earnings – 957 – (957) – – –

Transactions with owners
Dividends 12 – – – – – – –

Total transactions with 
owners – – – – – – –

Balance as at 31 March 2019 8,013 57,093 (1,827) 80,625 143,904 786 144,690

Attributable to Equity 
Holders of the Company 8,013 57,093 (1,827) 80,625 143,904 – 143,904
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Statement of Cash Flow
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Note 2019  
$’000

2018  
$’000

Operating activities
Cash generated from operations 21 16,877 21,737

Interest received 3 5 2

Interest paid 3 (3,016) (2,962)

Income taxes paid 16 (1,321) (2,423)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 12,545 16,354

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (23,465) (17,426)

Purchase of intangible assets (3,028) (621)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 92 142

Net cash outflow in investing activities (26,401) (17,905)

Financing activities
Dividends paid 12 – (200)

Convertible notes in subsidiary sold to non-controlling interest 18 (50) (50)

Loan to equity accounted for associate (452) –

Bank borrowings advanced 18 14,517 1,700

Net cash inflow from financing activities 14,015 1,450

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 159 (101)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 566 667

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 725 566
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Notes to the Financial Statements

General information
The Group consists of The Lines Company ("the Company” or “TLC”), Financial Corporation Limited and 
Speedys Road Hydro Limited (together “the Group”). The Group’s principal activities are the conveyance 
of electricity through its distribution network, supply of electrical meter services, electrical contracting 
and electricity generation. 

The address of its registered office is King Street East, Te Kūiti and its principal activities 
are substantially carried out in the greater King Country region of New Zealand.

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 1993, where a reporting entity 
prepares consolidated financial statements, parent company disclosures are not required.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 27 August 2019.

Summary of significant accounting policies
Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements (“financial statements”) of the Group have been prepared 
in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in New Zealand (NZ GAAP). 

The Group is a for-profit entity for the purposes of complying with NZ GAAP. The financial statements 
comply with New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS), other 
New Zealand accounting standards and authoritative notices that are applicable to entities that apply 
NZ IFRS. The consolidated financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).

They are prepared on the historical cost basis except for the revaluation of certain non-current 
assets and financial instruments measured at fair value.

The presentation currency is New Zealand Dollar ($). All financial information has been rounded 
to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated. 

In the current year the Group has adopted the following new accounting standards: 

NZ IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers  

NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

Impact of these new standards has been disclosed in Note 26, Change in accounting policies.

Significant accounting policies, estimates and judgements
The Board and management are required to make judgements, estimates and apply assumptions 
that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements. They are based on historical experience 
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in the future periods.

Judgements and estimates which are material to the financial statements are found in the following notes:

Note 1 Revenue recognition Pg 43 

Note 10 Valuation of network distribution system Pg 50

Note 10 Generation property, plant and equipment Pg 50

Note 20 Provisions Pg 61

Note 23.2 Financial instruments Pg 65
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

1. Revenue from contracts with customers
2019  

$’000
2018  

$’000

Revenue recognised over time
Network before discounts 42,527 41,053

Transition discount (1,995) –

Less network discount 12 (5,595) (5,600)

Network revenue 34,937 35,453

Electricity meter revenue 5,331 4,551

Revenue from electrical contracts which were unsatisfied  
and included in contracts assets and liabilities 845 –

Revenue from completed electrical contracts 1,578 2,027

Electrical contracting revenue 2,423 2,027

Generation revenue 1,442 2,183

Revenue 44,133 44,214

Contracting assets and liabilities
The following table reflects the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance  
obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) as at the end of the reporting period.

2019  
$’000

2018  
$’000

Electrical contracts assets due to percentage of completion 333 131

Network unbilled network revenue work in progress 2,280 –

Contract assets 2,613 131

Electrical contracts accrual due to percentage of completion (376) (836)

Network customer credit balances (1,814) (1,319)

Contract liabilities (2,190) (2,155)

 
Management expects that 100% of the transaction price to be allocated to the unsatisfied contracts 
to revenue in the next reporting period.

Contract assets have changed significantly from one year to the next due to the change in the pricing  
methodology in the current financial year, as discussed in network revenue.
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Policies
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and represents 
amounts receivable for goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and GST. All revenue is 
incurred within New Zealand.

The Group has four streams of revenue
• Network revenue
• Electricity meter revenue
• Generation revenue
• Electrical contracting revenue

Network revenue results from the conveyance of electricity through its distribution network. 
The Company invoices its customers (predominantly the end user) for electricity delivered across 
the region’s line network. Customers do not have extended terms of payment and can terminate 
on short notice. 

The Group’s obligation is to provide a single performance obligation of continuous service to which 
the customer benefits  over time. Revenue is recognised at the price per kilowatt-hour (kWh) delivered 
to the customer in that period, incorporating variable pricing and reflects demand and deduction for 
losses and discounts. In the current year pricing moved from a demand-based pricing methodology to 
a time-of-use based pricing methodology for all customers excluding major customers. The time-of-use 
pricing methodology came into effect on 1 October 2018. Payments terms are within 30 days.

To assist customers with the transition from demand-based billing to time-of-use billing a transition 
discount has been established. The transition discount is offered for a year from 1 October 2018. It 
caps the time-of-use bill to an increase of 20% of the demand-based bill for the prior period.

Network revenue is subject to a prompt payment discount. A 10% prompt payment discount is offered 
when customers pay within a specific time period. 

A network discount is approved annually and paid in December. This is accrued on a monthly basis.

Electricity meter revenue relates to the monthly tariffs received from customers (mainly energy 
retailers and property developers) for the use of electricity meters owned by the Group to provide 
meter data. Prices are charged on a fixed-tariff rate each month based on number of days. Revenue 
is recognised over time as and when the services are provided. Payment terms are within 30 days.  

Generation revenue is derived from the generation of electricity associated with our hydro plants 
which is sold on the wholesale market. As electricity is generated over time, revenue is recognised 
over time. Payment terms are within 30 days.

Electrical contracting revenue relates to the installation of street lights, lines and connection to the 
national grid are met for customers. Revenue is recognised based on the stage of completion of the 
contract applying the cost-to-cost method, i.e. based on the proportion of contract costs incurred to 
work performed to date relative to the estimated total contract cost.  The directors consider this input 
method as an appropriate measure of the progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance 
obligations under IFRS 15, i.e. recognised over time. 

General payment terms are that a 50% deposit is paid before work commences and final payment is 
made on completion of the contract. This may result in a contract asset or liability on the balance sheet 
when comparing the payment received and the percentage of completion revenue. Where a contract 
liability is recognised it is not considered to be a significant financing component as the period between 
milestone payments and revenue under the cost-to-cost method is less than a year. 
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Key judgements
Management must apply judgement where:

• Part of the network charges are based on normalisation, where demand is assessed based on 
historical actual meter readings. Occasionally the meter reading history data is not consistent and 
subsequent adjustments are made to customers’ accounts, where further charges are applied or 
refunds given, these adjustments are not material compared with total network revenue. This applied 
up until September 2018 for all customers excluding major customers. 

• From 1 October 2018 the pricing methodology changed to time-of-use. Revenue is calculated based 
on kWh used. Customers are billed according to the billing cycles which results in customers not billed 
for all kWh used at financial year end. An accrual is raised for unbilled revenue. Unbilled revenue is 
recognised on an estimate of expected consumption utilised during the unbilled days. This is applied 
to the price plan set for that installation control point (ICP).

• As part of the transition plan changing from demand-based pricing to time-of-use, a transition discount 
has been offered. An accrual for the expected transition discount is raised at year end for revenue 
incurred to date. This is calculated by comparing billed and unbilled revenue under time-of-use to 
that on demand-based pricing increased by 20%. The difference is accrued for as transition discount.

• A prompt payment discount accrual is raised at year end. A calculation is done based on what is 
expected to be paid on outstanding revenue within payment terms. An assessment is performed 
on what was previously claimed as prompt payment and this percentage is applied to the accrual.

• Electrical contracting projects percentage of completion is assessed based on cost-to-cost basis. 
Judgement is used for the estimated final cost. Variations to contracts are assessed in the estimated 
final cost but these are minimal.

2. Operating expenses
2019  

$'000
2018  

$'000

Transmission charges 6,797 7,044

Total staff cost recognised as expense 11,631 9,675

Cost of inventories recognised as expense 1,155 1,134

Professional fees 2,780 2,609

Property expenses 921 830

Directors fees and expenses 324 284

Gain on disposal of PPE and software intangibles (38) (17)

Other expenses 2,362 1,433

Total 25,932 22,992

Fees paid to auditors
2019  

$'000
2018  

$'000

Financial statements audit fee 189 159

Regulatory audit fees 116 85

OAG fees 17 17

Regulatory advice 11 11

Total 333 272
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3. Interest costs (net)
2019  

$'000
2018  

$'000

Interest on bank borrowings 2,749 2,715

Capitalised interest (392) (237)

Interest on convertible notes issued by subsidiary 70 75

Interest on subordinated debentures 176 170

Other interest expense, principally IRD Use of Money 21 2

Interest income (5) (2)

Total 2,619 2,723

 
The weighted average interest rate on bank borrowings, including interest rate swap derivatives, 
is 4.71% (2018: 5.18%)

Interest paid/(received) per the cash flow statement
2019  

$'000
2018  

$'000

Interest costs (net) 2,619 2,723

Add capitalised interest 392 237

Net interest paid per the statement of cash flow 3,011 2,960

Interest received per the statement of cash flow (5) (2)

Interest paid per the statement of cash flow 3,016 2,962

Total 3,011 2,960

 
Policies 
Interest income/expense is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest rate method.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or 
sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings, 
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets, is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation. Borrowing costs not directly attributable to qualifying assets is recognised as interest 
expense.

4. Other income
2019  

$'000
2018  

$'000

Gifted assets – 1,883

Corporate services – 3

Total – 1,886
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5. Income tax expense

Reconciliation of income tax expense
2019  

$’000
2018  

$’000

(Loss)/profit before income tax (688) 9,100

Expenses that are non-deductible 627 6,399

Impairment of associate 3,211 –

Impairment of assets – 197

Taxable profit 3,150 15,696

Income tax expense at 28% 882 4,395

Effect of prior period tax adjustment 17 98

Income tax expense 899 4,493

Effective tax rate (being total tax expense divided by profit before tax) 131% 49%

Current tax expense 70 2,736

Deferred tax expense 829 1,757

Income tax expense 899 4,493

Attributable to:  
Continuing activities 899 4,493

Amounts recognised directly in other comprehensive income

Aggregate current and deferred tax arising in the reporting period and not recognised in net profit and 
loss component of the statements of comprehensive income but directly debited and credited to other 
comprehensive income.

Deferred tax — (credited)/debited directly to other comprehensive income (41) 194

Total tax expense for the year recognised in other comprehensive income (41) 194

 
Policies
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax and is calculated using tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at balance sheet date.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit and loss unless the tax relates to items in other 
comprehensive income, in which case the tax is recognised as an adjustment in other comprehensive 
income against the item to which it relates.

Imputation credits
The value of imputation credits available for subsequent reporting periods as at 31 March 2019 
is $7.67 million (2018: $7.72 million).
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6. Operational profit
2019  

$’000
2018  

$’000

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA)
Network 19,185 22,542

Meters and relays 3,047 2,382

Contracting 602 1,472

Generation 1,163 1,224

Corporate services (6,338) (4,838)

EBITDA 17,659 22,782

Depreciation and amortisation (12,517) (10,745)

Impairment of associate (3,211) –

Impairment of assets – (214)

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 1,931 11,823
Interest costs (net) (2,619) (2,723)

(Loss)/profit before tax (688) 9,100

7. Cash and cash equivalents
2019  

$’000
2018  

$’000

Cash at bank on hand 725 566

Total 725 566

 
Policies
For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash 
on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are 
shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the balance sheet.
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8. Trade and other receivables
2019  

$’000
2018  

$’000

Trade receivables
Trade receivables 3,417 2,432

Less loss allowance (note 22) (457) (562)

Balance at 31 March 2,960 1,870

Other receivables
Sundry debtors 351 238

Prepayments 479 429

Balance at 31 March 830 667

Receivables balance at 31 March 3,790 2,537

Ageing of trade receivables
Current to 90 days 3,495 2,234

Greater than 90 days 752 865

Total 4,247 3,099

 
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services performed in the ordinary course 
of business. They are generally settled within 30 days and therefore are all classified as current. 
Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional. 

A loss allowance is assessed in note 23.2.

Policies 
Trade and sundry receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled within a  
30-day term. Therefore the carrying value of trade receivables approximates their fair value.

The simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses is applied which uses a lifetime  
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.

9. Inventories
2019  

$’000
2018  

$’000

Network stock 1,083 1,594

Transformers 587 368

Total 1,670 1,962

Policies
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Cost includes the cost of direct materials and other charges, e.g. freight incurred in bringing 
the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted 
average method. 

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs 
of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.
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10. Property, plant and equipment
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Gross carrying value
At 31 March 2017 1,356 2,256 234,962 30,256 9,185 21,701 299,716

Additions – 49 15,700 2,405 881 12 19,047

Disposals – – (161) – (382) – (543)

Reclassification – – (346) – – – (346)

Capital works in progress – – 24 585 – 7 616

At 31 March 2018 1,356 2,305 250,179 33,246 9,684 21,720 318,490

Additions – – 18,350 1,136 1,386 508 21,380

Disposals – – – – (174) – (174)

Reclassification 11 239 (295) (1,061) 7 21 (1,078)

Capital works in progress – 106 2,237 – – 134 2,477

At 31 March 2019 1,367 2,650 270,471 33,321 10,903 22,383 341,095

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 31 March 2017 – 222 27,151 15,725 6,666 3,771 53,535

Depreciation charge – 38 7,376 1,420 948 585 10,367

Impairment – – (346) – – – (346)

Revaluation (11) (332) – – (66) 66 (343)

Disposals – (106) (24) – (272) – (402)

At 31 March 2018 (11) (178) 34,157 17,145 7,276 4,422 62,811

Depreciation charge – 46 9,045 1,685 857 585 12,218

Reclassification 11 194 – (1,283) 66 (66) (1,078)

Disposals – – – – (151) – (151)

At 31 March 2019 – 62 43,202 17,547 8,048 4,941 73,800

Carrying amount (net book value)

At 31 March 2017 1,356 2,034 207,811 14,531 2,519 17,930 246,181

At 31 March 2018 1,367 2,483 216,022 16,101 2,408 17,298 255,679

At 31 March 2019 1,367 2,588 227,269 15,774 2,855 17,442 267,295

Carrying amount (cost model)

At 31 March 2018 719 1,928 125,095 16,101 2,408 17,298 163,549

At 31 March 2019 719 2,033 137,671 15,774 2,855 17,442 176,494

 
The table represents the carrying amounts that would have arisen had all property,  
plant and equipment (PPE) been carried under the cost model.
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Policies
Property, plant and equipment other than land and buildings and network distribution system are 
initially measured at cost, and subsequently stated at cost less depreciation and any impairment losses. 

Land and buildings and network distribution assets are held at their fair value. Fair values are 
determined based on valuations adjusted for subsequent purchase costs, disposals, depreciation 
and impairment. 

Expenditure is capitalised if the asset is technically and commercially feasible, future economic 
benefits are probable and the Company intends to use or sell the asset.

Capitalisation occurs immediately once an asset is acquired or installed. 

Depreciation begins once an asset is ready for use.

Depreciation of PPE, other than land, is calculated on a straight line basis and expensed  
over the life of the asset.

Estimated useful asset lives are as follows:
Buildings 40 – 100 years
Network distribution system 5 – 60 years
Meters & relays 4 – 15 years
Plant & vehicles 1 – 10 years
Generation 10 – 75 years

Gain or loss on disposal is recognised in profit and loss. 

Judgements
Land and buildings
The land and buildings of the Group, comprising the vacant land and depots at Waitete Road Te Kūiti, 
Te Peka Street Taumarunui, Old Station Road Ohakune, the residential dwellings at Te Peka Street 
Taumarunui and head office at King Street East Te Kūiti were revalued to $3.5 million at 31 March 2018. 
Revaluations are performed every three years.

These valuations were prepared by Doyle Valuations Ltd (A.N.Z.I.V, S.N.Z.P.I), an independent valuer 
with local experience. These valuations were carried out in accordance with API and PINZ Professional 
Practice and International Valuation Standards. Cost summation, market rate and income approaches 
were used for the valuation.

The fair value measurements above are considered to be Level 2 as per NZ IFRS 13, as they are derived 
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the assets that are based on observable market data.
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Network distribution system
The Group estimates the fair value of the distribution network through independent valuers using 
the discounted cash flow method every three years. 

Network distribution system assets, excluding meters and relays, were valued to $214.7 million at 
31 March 2018. This value was within the valuation range ($201.2 million – $217.1 million) independently 
prepared by Deloitte and the key assumptions used are shown in the table below. In all cases an 
element of professional judgement is required. The valuation is based on revenue and cost 
assumptions applied against a combination of discount rates and distribution revenues. The carrying 
value of the network was reviewed at 31 March 2019 to confirm it is materially consistent with fair value, 
and no adjustment was required.

Assumptions Valuation midpoint 
assumptions adopted Low High Valuation impact  

$’000s
-$1,239

Distribution revenue – -5% 5% +$3,596

+$8,106

Discount rate 6.2% -0.5% 0.5% -$7,739

 
Consistent with prior years, the valuer has assumed the terminal value equal to forecast Regulatory 
Asset Base (RAB) based on information disclosures, as it is believed that the terminal value would 
approximate the RAB value in a steady state regulatory environment. 

The fair valuation measurements above are considered to be Level 3 as per NZ IFRS 13, as they are 
derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset that are not based on observable 
market data (unobservable inputs).

Generation assets
The carrying value of the Group’s generation assets is assessed for impairment annually.

The basis of the impairment assessment is the value-in-use discounted cash flow analysis of the 
future earnings of the assets. The major inputs that are used in the value-in-use model that required 
judgement include the forward price path of electricity, sales volume forecasts, projected operational 
and capital expenditure profiles, discount rates and life assumptions for each generation station.  

The directors consider that no reasonably possible change in any of the assumptions below would 
cause the carrying value of generation assets to exceed their recoverable amounts.

Group generation assessment 
Total impairment based on value-in-use $22.79 million

Assumptions – Group Low High
Negative value 
impact ($’000)

Positive value 
impact ($’000)

Price path –  
Energy Link

Energy Link – 
25th percentile

Energy Link –  
75th percentile $4,064 $4,129

Generation volume -10.0% +10.0% $2,249 $2,249

Operational costs +20.0% -20.0% $1,405 $1,405

Discount rate 8.5% 7.5% $1,860 $2,203
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11. Intangible assets

Software 
$’000

Land 
Easements 

$’000

Resource 
Consents  
& Rights  

$’000
Total  
$’000

Cost
At 31 March 2017 4,288 417 732 5,437

Additions 540 – 80 620

At 31 March 2018 4,828 417 812 6,057

Additions 3,022 – 6 3,028

At 31 March 2019 7,850 417 818 9,085

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Total at 31 March 2017 3,327 – 169 3,496

Amortisation charge for the year 378 – – 378

Impairment – – 17 17

Total at 31 March 2018 3,705 – 186 3,891

Amortisation charge for the year 299 – – 299

Total at 31 March 2019 4,004 – 186 4,190

Carrying amount (net book value)
At March 2017 961 417 563 1,941

At March 2018 1,123 417 626 2,166

At March 2019 3,846 417 632 4,895

 
Policies
Software is amortised on a straight line basis over its estimated useful life of 1 – 8 years.

Land easements have an indefinite life due to the right existing in perpetuity and are 
therefore not amortised and are required to be assessed for impairment annually. 

Resource consents include the rights to construct small hydro schemes. These consents are  
classified as having an indefinite life due to the recognition of monitoring and renewal costs 
as operating expenses and are therefore tested for impairment annually.   

12. Dividends
2019  

$’000
2018 

 $’000

 Dividends paid – 200

 
No dividend was paid to shareholders in the current year (2018: $0.2 million) being nil cents 
per share (2018: 1.69 cents).

During the year TLC agreed with its shareholder to provide a network discount of $5.6 million  
(2018: $5.6 million) direct to eligible consumers (refer note 1). At the same time it was agreed 
that the dividend paid would be reduced.
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13. Investments
13.1 Investment in subsidiaries

Name Principal activity
Ownership Interest

2019 2018
% %

Financial Corporation Limited Meter and relay assets 100 100

Speedys Road Hydro Limited Hydro generation scheme 75 75

 
On 1 February 2018 Financial Corporation Limited issued an additional 2.0 million shares for $2 million  
to The Lines Company Limited.

Policies
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the 
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that 
control ceases.

Intra-group transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

Balance dates
All subsidiaries have financial year end of 31 March. 

Geography
All subsidiaries are incorporated in New Zealand.

13.2 Investment in associates

Name
Principal 
activity

Ownership Interest
Nature of 

relationship
Measurement 

method

Carrying amount
2019  

%
2018  

%
2019 
$’000

2018 
$'000

Embrium 
Holdings Limited

Meter support 
technology

36 36 Associate Equity method – 2,753

 
In August 2016 Financial Corporation Limited purchased a 36% shareholding in Embrium Holdings Limited.

The principal place of business of Embrium Holdings Limited is Wellington. Embrium Holdings Limited 
is a technology company and its principal activities are the development of products and services for 
advanced metering. It is a strategic investment for the Group and complements the services provided 
by Financial Corporation Limited. 

The following table summarises the financial information of Embrium Holdings Limited as included 
in their own unaudited financial statements.
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Summarised Financial Information of equity accounted associate 2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 68 1,064

Total other current assets 525 640

Total non-current assets 56 54

Total assets 649 1,758

Total current liabilities 588 192

Total non-current liabilities – –

Total liabilities 588 192

Net assets 61 1,566

Group’s share of net assets 22 564

Goodwill acquired on acquisition of equity accounted investee 2,189 2,189

Impairment of investment (2,211) –

Carrying amount of equity accounted investee – 2,753

Loan provided to associate at amortised cost 452 –

Onerous contract recognised in trade and other payables 548 –

Impairment of loan to associate at amortised cost (1,000) –

Loan to associate at amortised cost – –

Revenue 271 481

Depreciation and amortisation 16 13

Interest expense/(income) 2 (44)

Net loss before tax (1,722) (1,025)

Tax credit 217 120

Net loss after tax (1,505) (905)

Group’s share of net loss after tax (542) (326)
Impairment of associate (3,211) –

Reconciliation to carrying amounts
Opening net assets 1,566 2,471

Profit/(loss) for the period (1,505) (905)

Closing net assets 61 1,566

Group’s share in % 36% 36%

Group’s share in closing net assets 22 564

Goodwill 2,189 2,189

Impairment of investment (2,211) –

Carrying amount – 2,753
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Policies
The equity method of accounting is used for the investment over which the Group has significant 
influence but not a controlling interest.

Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried at cost plus post-acquisition 
changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate less impairment losses. Goodwill relating 
to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment.

The Group’s share of the change to associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in 
the income statement. The post-acquisition movements are included after adjustments to align 
the accounting policies with those of the Group.

Judgements
Through the shareholder agreement, Financial Corporation Limited is guaranteed two seats on the 
board of Embrium and participates in all significant financial and operating decisions. With the loan 
provided the directors appointed by Financial Corporation Limited were given a casting vote. This vote 
does not extend to the shareholder's agreement and arrangements will fall back into place once a new 
shareholder or shareholders are brought to the company. The Group has therefore determined that it 
has significant influence over this entity, however with 36% shareholding it does not have a controlling 
interest. 

The carrying value of the investment is reviewed annually for impairment. The directors' review of this 
investment resulted in the investment and the loan to associate being fully impaired. This is due to the 
current uncertainty of future cash flows and revenues. 

 
14. Equity and reserves
14.1. Share capital
Dividends
Refer note 12.

Shares 
The total number of authorised and issued shares is 11,846,808 (2018: 11,846,808). The Company  
has one class of ordinary shares. All ordinary shares are classified as equity and have no par value.

14.2. Hedge reserves
Hedge reserves comprise the cash flow hedge reserve associated to interest rate swaps. These 
derivative instruments are only used for hedging purposes and not as speculative investments.

Policies
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The accounting for the 
changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if 
so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Group currently hedges a particular risk associated with 
the cash flows of recognised assets and liabilities that have highly probable transactions (cash flow 
hedges). At inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the economic relationship between 
the hedging instrument and hedged item including whether changes in cash flows of the hedging 
instruments are expected to offset changes in cash flows of hedged items. The Group documents its 
risk management objective and strategy undertaking its hedged transactions.

The fair values of derivative financial instruments designated in hedging relationships are disclosed 
in note 23.1. The effective portion in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as 
cash flow hedges is recognised on the cash flow hedge reserve in equity. The gain or loss relating to 
the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss, within other gains/(losses). 

Upon meeting all the relevant criteria, hedge accounting is applied to remove the accounting mismatch 
between the hedging instrument and the hedged item. This will effectively result in recognising interest 
expense at a fixed interest rate for the hedged floating rate loans.
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Interest rate swaps
2019  

$’000
2018 

$’000

Opening balance (1,718) (1,896)

Changes in fair value of hedging instrument  
recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) (150) 247

Deferred tax 41 (69)

Closing balance (1,827) (1,718)

 
14.3. Revaluation reserve

Network  
distribution system  

$’000

Land & 
buildings  

$’000
Total 
$’000

Total at 31 March 2017 80,704 413 81,117

Revaluation increases – 590 590

Deferred tax on revaluation – (125) (125)

Total at 31 March 2018 80,704 878 81,582

Transfer from retained earnings (957) – (957)

Revaluation increases – – –

Deferred tax on revaluation – – –

Total at 31 March 2019 79,747 878 80,625

15. Non-controlling interest
The following table summarises the financial information of Speedys Road Hydro Limited  
as included in their own audited financial statements.

Summarised Financial Information of non-controlling interest
2019  

$’000
2018  

$’000

Summarised statement of  financial position
Total current assets 318 686

Total non-current assets 8,012 7,998

Total assets 8,330 8,684

Total current liabilities 1,083 1,197

Total non-current liabilities 4,102 4,291

Total liabilities 5,185 5,488

Net assets 3,145 3,196

Accumulated non-controlling interest 786 799

Summarised statement of comprehensive income
Revenue 796 858

Total comprehensive loss (52) (200)

Loss allocated to non-controlling interest (13) (50)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest – –

Summarised cash flows
Cash flows from operating activities 454 250

Cash flows from investing activities (249) (126)

Cash flows from financing activities (200) (200)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5 (76)
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16. Current tax (asset)/liability
2019  

$’000
2018  

$’000

Opening balance 988 675

Tax payments and tax credits received (1,321) (2,423)

Current tax expense for the year 70 2,736

Closing balance (263) 988

 
Policies
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations  
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. 

Management establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected  
to be paid to the tax authorities. 

17. Deferred tax (asset)/liability

PPE  
$’000

Cash flow 
hedges  

$’000
Provisions 

$’000
Total  
$’000

At 31 March 2017 49,501 (738) (451) 48,312

Charged to income 1,683 – 74 1,757

Charged to other comprehensive income 125 69 – 194

At 31 March 2018 51,309 (669) (377) 50,263

Charged to income 811 – 18 829

Charged to other comprehensive income – (41) – (41)

At 31 March 2019 52,120 (710) (359) 51,051

 
Policies 
Deferred tax is:

• Recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities  
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.

• Determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet date and are expected to be applied when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or 
the deferred income tax liability is settled.

• Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. 
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset 
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

58



18. Bank borrowings, convertible notes and subordinated debentures 
2019  

$’000
2018 

$’000

Bank borrowings 68,456 53,939

Convertible notes issued by subsidiary 1,050 1,100

Subordinated debentures:

Waitomo Energy Services Customer Trust 1,000 1,000

North King Country Development Trust 2,000 2,000

72,506 58,039

Disclosed in the financial statements as:

Current borrowings 250 250

Non-current borrowings 72,256 57,789

Total 72,506 58,039

 

Reconciliation of net debt Borrowings due 
within 1 year 

$’000

Borrowings due 
after 1 year 

$’000
Total 
$’000

Balance at 1 April 2017 250 56,139 56,389

Cash flows – 1,650 1,650

Net debt at 31 March 2018 250 57,789 58,039

Cash flows – 14,467 14,467

Net debt as at 31 March 2019 250 72,256 72,506
 
Policies
Borrowings are initially measured at fair value, less transaction costs and are subsequently  
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

The subordinated debentures are stated at their fair values.

Bank borrowings
The Group has term lending facilities of $75.4 million for three years, expiring 31 May 2020.  
The working capital portion of this facility is $3 million and is subject to annual renewal and  
expires on 31 December 2019.

Security held by the bank for these loans is a Composite General Security Agreement over  
certain assets of the Group.

The Directors estimate the fair value of the Group’s bank loans approximate their book value, 
because they are floating rate loans.
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Convertible notes
Speedys Road Hydro Limited (SRHL) had issued $3.75 million of convertible notes to TLC and 
$1.25 million of convertible notes to the minority shareholder. The proceeds were used to repay debt 
owed to TLC. The convertible notes are interest bearing (2019: 6.29%) (2018: 6.28%). The convertible 
notes issued to TLC are eliminated on consolidation in the Group financial statements.

On 20 October 2018, $200,000 of the convertible notes were repaid reducing the balance to $3.1 million 
to TLC and $1.05 million to the minority shareholder.

The holder may either elect to convert the notes to shares, redeem the notes for cash or extend the 
maturity date of the notes. The election notice is subject to agreement by the SRHL board of directors 
and who are entitled to act in what they reasonably consider to be in the best interests of SRHL. 

Maturity 
date

2019 
$’000

Tranche A1 30/09/2023 800

Tranche B 30/09/2019 1,000

Tranche C1 30/09/2020 800

Tranche D1 30/09/2021 800

Tranche E 30/09/2023 800

 
SRHL reserves the right to defer interest payments in perpetuity while it does not have sufficient 
cash to make the payment.

The fair value of the convertible notes are not considered to be materially different from its principal 
value as the terms of the notes are such that comparable market instruments would not differ 
materially in value.

Subordinated debentures
The Waitomo Energy Services Customer Trust (WESCT) loan has a principal value of $1,000,000 and had 
fixed interest of 7.42% per annum (2018: 7.42%). The North King Country Development Trust (NKCDT) 
loan has a principal value of $2,000,000 and had fixed interest of 5.00% per annum (2018: 5.00%).

The subordinated debentures are unsecured and have no specified maturity date.  Repayment of the 
subordinated debentures is not permitted until full repayment of all other borrowings of the Company.

The interest rate payable on the WESCT debenture is reset yearly, by negotiation, having regard to 
interest paid by other entities who have issued similar debt securities.  The fair value of the WESCT 
debenture is not considered to be materially different from its principal value as the applicable interest 
rate approximates that of similar debt securities.

The fair value of the NKCDT debenture is not considered to be materially different from its principal 
value as the terms of the debenture are such that comparable instruments would not differ materially 
in value.

There are no specified repayment terms in relation to subordinated debentures.
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19. Trade and other payables
2019 

$’000
2018 

$’000

Trade creditors 3,834 2,457

Interest accruals 309 327

Onerous loan 548 –

Other payables and accruals 2,170 1,609

Total 6,861 4,393

 
Policies
Trade and other payables are:

• Recognised at fair value when the Group becomes obligated to make future payments  
resulting from the purchases of goods and services and are subsequently measured  
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

• Comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs.
• Carrying amount approximates to their fair value because the amounts due  

will be settled within one year’s time for their carrying value.

20. Provision for staff entitlements
2019 

$’000
2018 

$’000

Opening balance 1,214 1,474

Accrued 1,416 1,214

Utilised (1,214) (1,474)

Total 1,416 1,214

 
Policies
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, 
trainee bonds and gratuities when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable 
of being measured reliably.

Provisions made that are expected to be settled within 12 months are measured at their amounts 
expected to be paid using the remuneration rate expected at the time of settlement.

Provisions made that are not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as the present 
value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Group in respect of services provided 
by employees up to balance date.

The carrying amount of the provision for staff entitlements approximates to their fair value as most 
of the entitlement is due to be settled within one year.
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21. Cash generated from operations
2019 

$’000
2018 

$’000

(Loss)/profit before tax (688) 9,100

Interest costs (net) 2,619 2,723

Net profit before interest 1,931 11,823

Adjustments for non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation 12,517 10,745

Non-cash asset replacement (gifted asset) – (1,883)

Impairment of associate 3,211 –

Impairment of assets – 214

Gain on disposal of PPE and intangible assets (38) –

Movement in provision for doubtful debt (105) (65)

Share of losses retained by equity accounted associate 542 326

18,058 21,160

Changes in net assets and liabilities
Trade and other receivables (1,148) 359

Contract assets and liabilities (2,447) –

Inventories 292 (195)

Trade and other payables 1,920 673

Provision for staff entitlements 202 (260)

Cash generated from operations 16,877 21,737

 
22. Contingent assets and liabilities
The Group has capital commitments of $0.4 million including $0.2 million relating  
to the Hangatiki project and $0.2 million of metering equipment (2018: $4.2 million). 

The Group has no contingent liabilities (2018: $0 million).

The Group leases office space under a non-cancellable operating lease expiring within two years.  
The lease has varying terms and renewal rights. On renewal, the terms of the lease are renegotiated.

2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

No later than one year 73 63

Later than one year and no later than five years 17 14

Later than five years – –

Total 90 77
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23. Financial risk management
Objectives
The Group manages financial risks by complying with the policies set by the Board. 

The risks outlined in the policy include:
• Interest rate risk
• Credit risk
• Capital risk
• Liquidity risk
• Electricity price risk.

Any new risks are referred to the Board for consideration as they become known.  
Each risk is monitored and reported to the board on a quarterly basis.

23.1 Interest rate risk
The Group's main interest rate risk is through its borrowing activities with variable rates,  
which expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. 

The Group’s policy with regards to fixing its floating rate is depicted below:

Period Minimum Maximum
0-1 year 40% 100%

1-3 years 30% 80%

3-5 years 15% 60%

 
Generally the Group enters into long-term borrowings at floating rates and swaps them into fixed 
rates that are lower than those available if the Group borrowed at fixed rates directly. The Group’s 
borrowings are only in New Zealand dollars. 

The Group’s borrowings and receivables are carried at amortised cost. The borrowings are repriced 
every three months and as such exposed to the risk of future changes in interest rates.

Swaps currently in place cover 44% (2018: 74%) of the variable loan outstanding. The fixed interest rate 
of the swaps range between 2.28% and 5.12% (2018: 4.59% and 5.14%) and the variable rates of the 
loans between 3.05% and 3.15% (2018: 3.07% and 3.16%) above the 90-day bank bill rate which at the 
end of the reporting period was 1.75% (2018: 1.75%).

The swap contracts require settlement of net interest receivable or payable every 90 days. The 
settlement dates do not coincide with the dates on which interest is payable on the underlying debt, 
however due to the stability of the interest rate in New Zealand the ineffectiveness is considered 
immaterial.
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Effect of hedge accounting on the financial position and performance 2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Interest rate swaps

Current liability (2,537) (2,306)

Non-current liability – (81)

Mark to market fair value of interest rate swaps at 31 March (2,537) (2,387)

Notional amount 30,000 40,000

Maturity date May 19  
to May 24

Aug 18  
to May 24

Hedge ratio 1:1 1:1

Change in fair value of outstanding hedging instruments (151) 247

Change in value of hedge item used to determine hedge effectiveness 151 (247)

Weighted average hedged rate for the year 2.61% 2.57%

 
Sensitivity
Sensitivity analysis is determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivatives  
and non-derivative instruments at balance sheet date.

A 100 basis point increase or decrease is used to assess interest rate and this represents management’s 
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Impact on statement of comprehensive income

- 1% change in interest rates (205) (100)

+ 1% change in interest rates 205 100

Impact on statement of financial position

- 1% change in interest rates (829) (598)

+ 1% change in interest rates 829 598

 
Hedge ineffectiveness is determined at inception of the hedge relationship, and through periodic 
prospective effectiveness assessments to ensure that an economic relationship exists between the 
hedged item and hedged instrument.

The Group enters into interest rate swaps that have similar critical terms as the hedged item, such as 
reference rate, maturities and notional amount. The Group does not hedge 100% of its loans, therefore 
the hedged item is identified as a proportion of the outstanding loans up to the notional amount of the 
swaps. As all critical terms matched during the year, the economic relationship was 100% effective.

Hedged ineffectiveness may occur due to:

• Difference in critical terms between the interest rate swaps and loans; and
• The credit value/debit value adjustment on the interest rate swaps which is not matched by the loan.

There was no ineffectiveness during 2019 or 2018 in relation to interest rate swaps.
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23.2 Credit risk
The Group’s principal financial assets are cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, 
contract assets and related party loans, which represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk in relation to financial assets.

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated 
parties with a minimum rating of “A” are accepted. Thus impact on cash and cash equivalents is deemed 
immaterial.

Related parties are assessed for impairment with the relevant investment, see Note 13.2.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group applies NZ IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses 
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based 
on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The contract assets relate to unbilled work 
in progress and have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same 
contract types. The Group has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables 
are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for contract assets. 

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 12 months from 
31 March 2019 and 1 April 2018 respectively and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced 
within this period. The Group’s customer base is mainly focused in the King Country and as such 
macroeconomic factors are considered within this particular environment and the credit loss adjusted 
accordingly.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2018 (on adoption of NZ IFRS 9) 
was determined as follows for both trade receivables and contracts assets:

31 March 2019

Less than  
90 days  

past due

More than  
90 days  

past due Total
Expected loss rate 0% 61%

Gross carrying amount — trade receivables 2,665 752 3,417
Gross carrying amount — contract assets 2,613 – 2,613
Loss allowance – 457 457

1 April 2018

Less than  
90 days  

past due

More than  
90 days  

past due Total
Expected loss rate 0% 65%

Gross carrying amount — trade receivables 1,567 865 2,432
Gross carrying amount — contract assets 131 – 131
Loss allowance – 562 562
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The closing loss allowance for trade receivables as at 31 March 2019 reconciles  
to the opening loss allowances as follows:

2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Opening balance 562 627

Amounts restated through opening retained earnings – –

Restated balance 562 627

Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit and loss – 11

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible (94) (76)

Unused amount reversed (11) –

Loss allowance closing balance 457 562

 
Trade receivables and contract assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, 
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make contractual 
payments for a period greater than 120 days past due.

The prior year policy was that a provision for impairment was recognised when there is evidence 
that the Group will be unable to collect the debt.

23.2a Fair value of financial instruments
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

• The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions 
and traded on active liquid markets is determined with reference to quoted market prices

• The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) is 
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow 
analysis using prices from observable current market transactions and dealer quotes for similar 
instruments

• The fair value of derivative instruments is calculated using quoted prices.  Where such prices are not 
available, use is made of discounted cash flow analysis using the applicable yield curve derived from 
quoted interest rates for the duration of the instruments for non-optional derivatives, and option 
pricing models for optional derivatives.

Fair value measurements recognised in the balance sheet
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured at fair value, 
grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly  
(i.e. derived from prices)

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs 
for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Level 1 
$’000

Level 2 
$’000

Level 3 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Group 2019
Derivative financial liabilities – (2,537) – (2,537)

Group 2018
Derivative financial liabilities – (2,387) – (2,387)

 
There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 during the year.
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23.2b Financial instruments by category

2019

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost 

$’000

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised 
cost 

$’000

Derivatives 
designated 

as cash flow 
hedges 

$’000
Total 
$’000

Cash and bank balances 725 – – 725

Trade and other receivables 3,311 – – 3,311

Contract assets 2,613 – – 2,613

Total financial assets 6,649 – – 6,649

Trade and other payables – 6,861 – 6,861

Contract liabilities – 2,190 – 2,190

Borrowings – 72,506 – 72,506

Other financial liabilities – – 2,537 2,537

Total financial liabilities – 81,557 2,537 84,094

2018
Cash and bank balances 566 – – 566

Trade and other receivables 2,108 – – 2,108

Contract assets 131 – – 131

Total financial assets 2,805 – – 2,805

Trade and other payables – 4,393 – 4,393

Contract liabilities – 2,155 – 2,155

Borrowings – 58,039 – 58,039

Other financial liabilities – – 2,387 2,387

Total financial liabilities – 64,587 2,387 66,974

 
Policies
The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
recorded at amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables and contract assets. 

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the 
counterparties are banks with AA credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large 
number of counterparties and customers.
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23.3 Capital risk
During 2019, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2018, was to maintain an equity/assets 
ratio of not less than 40%.

The ratio at March 2019 and 2018 was as follows: 2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Average equity (including subordinated debentures) 148,538 146,861

Total assets at year end 282,320 266,871

Equity to assets ratio 52.6% 55.0%

 
Policies
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a 
going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt 
and equity balance.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2018 and is based on risk management 
strategies and treasury management policies set and monitored by the Board.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in 
note 18, and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, retained 
earnings and reserves as disclosed in note 14 and statement of changes in equity respectively.

Debt covenants have been complied with during the year.

23.4 Liquidity risk

Financial liability maturity analysis

Less than  
1 month 

$’000

1 month 
to 1 year  

$’000
1 to 5 years 

$’000
Total 
$’000

Non-interest bearing 6,861 – – 6,861

Variable interest rate instruments – 2,787 69,256 72,043

At 31 March 2019 6,861 2,787 69,256 78,904

Non-interest bearing 4,393 – – 4,393

Variable interest rate instruments 146 2,410 54,870 57,426

At 31 March 2018 4,539 2,410 54,870 61,819

 
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Variable rate instruments includes the impact of derivatives.

There are $3.0 million of subordinated debentures (note 18) with no set maturity date. 

Interest payable on these is excluded from this analysis. 

The Group had access to the following borrowing facilities at the end of the reporting period:

2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Total facility 75,400 75,400

Undrawn facility 6,944 21,461

 
The bank facilities may be drawn at any time and are reviewed every three years. Subject to the 
continuance of satisfactory credit ratings. The bank facilities are due for review on 31 May 2020. 
The working capital portion of the facility of $3 million is subject to review on 31 December 2019.
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Policies
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve 
borrowing facilities, by monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching maturity profiles 
of financial assets and liabilities.

23.5 Electricity price risk
Policies
The Group is exposed to electricity price risk on its electricity generation activities.

The Group has entered in to a fixed-term contract to supply electricity at agreed rates.  
This contract is fixed until 31 December 2019.

 

24. Related party transactions
2019 

$’000
2018 

$’000

Transactions with Waitomo Energy Services Customer Trust
Dividends paid – 200

Interest paid on subordinated debentures 65 72

Transactions with key management personnel
Salary and other short-term employee benefits 1,461 1,354

Directors’ fees and expenses 324 284

 
Simon Young and Craig Richardson are Directors of Financial Corporation Limited and Embrium 
Holdings Limited. Financial Corporation Limited holds a 36% shareholding in Embrium Holdings Limited.

Sean Horgan was a Director of Embrium Holdings Limited until September 2018 and is the Chief Executive 
of The Lines Company Limited, the holding company of Financial Corporation Limited which holds a 36% 
shareholding in Embrium Holdings Limited. He is also a director of Speedys Road Hydro Limited.

25. Subsequent events
On the 23 August 2019, Westpac New Zealand Limited extended the Multi Option Credit Line from 
31 May 2020 expiry date to 31 August 2020. The facility was also increased by $5 million, increasing 
the total facility to $77.4 million. 

26. Change in accounting policies
This note explains the impact of adoption of NZ IFRS 9 Financial instruments and NZ IFRS 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers on the Group’s financial instruments.

As a result of the change in the entity’s accounting policies, prior year financial statements 
had to be restated. 

NZ IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

NZ IFRS 15 deals with revenue recognition and establishes principles for reporting useful information 
to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and 
cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. Revenue is recognised when a customer 
obtains control of a good or service and thus has the ability to direct the use and obtain the benefits 
from a good or service. The Group adopted NZ IFRS 15 on 1 April 2018. The application of the new 
standards has resulted in no changes to revenue recognition.

The Group has used the modified retrospective approach to transition with impact on the prior 
periods being adjusted through opening equity, however it is noted that no adjustment was required.
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The impact of the adoption of NZ IFRS 15 includes the followings changes in presentation:

• Contract assets and liabilities have been separately disclosed on the face of the statement 
of financial position, this has impacted trade payables and trade and other receivables.

• A gifted asset previously disclosed as revenue has been moved to other income.

NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The adoption of the new financial instruments standard NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments,  
the impact of the adoption is:

• The interest rate swaps in place as at 31 March 2018 qualified as cashflow hedges under NZ IFRS 9. 
The Group’s risk management and strategies and hedge documentation are aligned with the 
requirements of NZ IFRS 9 and these relationships are therefore treated as continuing hedges.

• There have been no changes made to the classification of the Group’s financial assets as a result 
of the adoption of NZ IFRS 9.

• For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by NZ IFRS 9, which 
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivable.  
The Group has assessed the impact of the adoption of this approach and there is no change 
tothe provision for losses for trade receivables and contract assets.

Extract of statement of comprehensive  
income for 31 March 2018

Originally 
presented 

$’000
NZ IFRS 15 

$’000
Restated 

$’000

Revenue 46,100 (1,886) 44,214

Operating expenses (22,992) – (22,992)

Depreciation and amortisation (10,745) – (10,745)

Interest costs (net) (2,723) – (2,723)

Impairment of assets (214) – (214)

Total expenses (36,674) – (36,674)

Other income – 1,886 1,886

Share of net loss of associate accounted for using the equity method (326) – (326)

Profit before tax 9,100 – 9,100

Income tax expense (4,493) – (4,493)

Profit for the year 4,607 – 4,607

Profit for the year is attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 4,657 – 4,657

Non-controlling interest (50) – (50)
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Extract of statement of financial position for 31 March 2018

Originally 
presented 

$’000
NZ IFRS 15 

$’000
Restated 

$’000
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 566 – 566

Trade and other receivables 2,668 (131) 2,537

Contract assets – 131 131

Inventories 1,962 – 1,962

5,196 – 5,196

Non-current assets 261,675 – 261,675

Total assets 266,871 – 266,871

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 6,548 (2,155) 4,393

Contract liabilities – 2,155 2,155

Convertible notes issued by subsidiary 250 – 250

Other financial liabilities 2,306 – 2,306

Current tax liability 988 – 988

Provision for staff entitlements 1,214 – 1,214

11,306 – 11,306

Non-current liabilities 109,179 – 109,179

Total liabilities 120,485 – 120,485

Net assets 146,386 – 146,386

Equity 146,386 – 146,386
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Corporate Governance 

The Lines Company’s Board and management are 
committed to ensuring that the company strives for 
best practice governance principles.

This section provides an overview of TLC’s main corporate 
governance policies, practices and processes which have 
been adopted by and are followed by TLC’s Board.

The Lines Company Limited (TLC) came into existence 
on 26 March 1993 and is wholly-owned by the Waitomo 
Energy Services Customer Trust. TLC is principally 
engaged in the construction, maintenance and operation 
of an electricity distribution network.

The activities of the company are regulated under the 
terms of the Electricity Act 1992, the Electricity Industry 
Reform Act 1998 and the Commerce Act 1986. Compliance 
with the Commerce Act 1986 and the Electricity Industry 
Reform Act 1998 is administered by the Commerce 
Commission.

Board of Directors
The Directors and Chair are appointed by the Shareholder. 
All Directors are non-executive and are independent. 
The Board is responsible for setting and monitoring the 
strategic plans and goals of the company. It delegates 
the day-to-day management of the company to the 
Chief Executive. 

The Board’s authority and accountability is based on the 
regulatory framework and the Statement of Corporate 
Intent (SCI). The SCI is produced annually and sets out 
the Board’s strategic objectives, goals and performance 
targets, as agreed with the Shareholder. The Board 
operates in accordance with the Constitution of TLC, 
adopted on 1 April 1999. The Board receives monthly 
reports from management and meets at least eight times 
during each financial year. The Constitution specifies that 
there shall be no less than four and no more than seven 
directors at any one time, and that at every annual 
general meeting one third of the Directors shall retire 
from office and be eligible for reappointment.

The Board has four operating committees. The 
Remuneration Committee makes recommendations 
to the Board on the remuneration packages including 
base salary, fringe benefits, incentive schemes, 
superannuation and entitlements of the Chief 
Executive and senior executive officers. 

The Audit, Risk and Finance  Committee reviews the 
effectiveness and efficiency of internal controls and 
information systems, oversees TLC’s compliance with 
legal and regulatory requirements, corporate compliance 
requirements, financial statements, treasury policy and 
preparation of the annual report, and liaises with the 
Office of the Auditor General on the appointment of 
external auditors. 

The Stakeholder Committee provides board level 
representation and insights on relevant stakeholder 
issues. The Regulatory Committee reviews and oversees 
the Electricity Distribution Businesses (EDBs) regulatory 
and compliance requirements and provides advice on 
regulatory issues.

Risk Management
The Board has adopted a formal risk policy and risk 
management framework. The Board is responsible for 
reviewing and ratifying systems of risk management and 
systems of internal controls. The Board monitors the 
operational and financial aspects of TLC’s activities and 
considers the recommendations and advice of external 
auditors and other external advisors on the operational 
and financial risks that face TLC.

Health and Safety
A key focus is to operate in a manner where no harm 
occurs to our staff, contractors or public while complying 
with the Health and Safety at Work Act 2015. The Board 
exercise due diligence through the regular review of 
health and safety reports and maintain an oversight of 
key health and safety policies, procedures and processes. 
Directors schedule workplace visits and support 
management in promoting a positive health and safety 
culture.

Treasury Management
Exposure to treasury related financial risks is managed 
in accordance with TLC’s treasury policy. This policy sets 
out financial and treasury management objectives, 
specific responsibilities, limits on management authority, 
permissible financial instruments and reporting and 
monitoring requirements. Under this policy the Board 
is responsible for approving all treasury and interest 
rate strategies and any subsequent changes to these 
strategies.

Indemnification and Insurance of Directors
TLC has insured all its Directors, both present and past, 
and staff against liabilities to other parties that may arise 
from their positions as Directors or staff. This insurance 
does not cover liabilities arising from criminal actions.

Information used by Directors
Information relating to items to be discussed by the 
Directors at a meeting is provided to Directors prior 
to that meeting. Directors must not use information 
received in their capacity as a Director, which would 
not otherwise be available to them, without the prior 
consent of the Board.

Interests Register
Directors must identify any potential conflicts of interest 
they may have in dealing with TLC’s affairs. TLC maintains 
an interest register to record particulars of transactions 
or matters involving Directors. 
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Statutory Information
1. Directors’ remuneration
Directors’ remuneration for The Lines Company of $266,544 (2018: $237,291) distributed as follows:

Appointment date Retirement date 2019 2018
Mark Darrow (Chair) 01 Sep 2015 77,142 71,526

John Rae 24 Mar 2014 38,571 36,484

Roger Sutton 03 Aug 2017 38,571 23,146

Simon Young 03 Jun 2010 38,571 36,484

Andrew Johnson 20 Sept 2018 23,094 –

Craig Richardson 01 Oct 2018 19,643 –

Richard Krogh 01 Sep 2015 02 Aug 2018 15,476 36,484

Timothy Densem 03 Aug 2017 31 Aug 2018 15,476 24,761

Peter Till 01 Aug 2011 03 Aug 2017 – 11,974

Total 266,544 240,859

 
All transactions in entities in which Directors disclosed an interest have been conducted  
on an ‘arm’s length’ basis in the normal course of business.

2. Directors’ register
Directors’ register for The Lines Company and its subsidiaries is as follows:

The Lines Company
Financial 

Corporation Limited
Speedys Road  
Hydro Limited

Mark Darrow   

John Rae  

Roger Sutton  

Simon Young  

Craig Richardson  

Andrew Johnson  

Marcus Paterson 

Sean Horgan 
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3. Directors’ disclosures of interest
 
Interests Register
Register of Directors’ Interests as at 31 March 2019
Companies Act 1993, Section 189(1)(C)

Company Nature

M C Darrow

Primary Industry Training Organisation Incorporated
Balle Bros Group Limited and subsidiaries
Advisory Board, Courier Solutions Limited  
Advisory Board, Armstrong Motor Group 
Signum Holdings Limited and Subsidiaries
New Zealand Transport Agency 
Justice of the Peace   
Financial Corporation Limited
Speedys Road Hydro Limited
Trustee Executors Limited
The Lines Company Limited

Chair
Director
Chairman 
Chair
Chair / Shareholder
Director

Director
Director
Director
Chair

J McF Rae

Eastland Group Limited and subsidiaries
Smart Environmental Limited
National Infrastructure Advisory Board
FJ Hawkes & Co. Limited

Kingyo Foods Limited — Personal Catering Interests
Gobble Limited — Personal Catering Interests
Ngapuhi Asset Holding Company Limited and subsidiaries
Activate Tairawhiti Limited
Cavalier Corporation Limited
Thos Corson Holdings Limited
Abodo Wood Limited
Provincial Growth Fund, Independent Advisory Panel
Wet Gisborne Limited
Financial Corporation Limited
The Lines Company Limited

Director
Chair
Chair
Managing Director /  
Shareholder
Director / Shareholder
Director / Shareholder
Director
Chair
Director
Chair
Director
Member
Director
Director
Director

S V Young

Jimmi Interests Limited
Jimmi Holdings Limited
Jimmi Limited
Carbon One Limited  
The Karo Group Limited
Karo Interests Limited Partnership  
Opunake Hydro Limited
Opunake Hydro Holdings Limited  
Top Energy Limited and subsidiaries
Embrium Holdings Limited
Financial Corporation Limited
The Lines Company Limited

Director
Director 
Director
Director
Director
General Partner
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
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Company Nature
A D Johnson
LondonGreen Limited (formerly IT Partners Group Limited) and subsidiaries
Inframax Construction Limited
Great Oaks Forests Limited
Waikato Anglican College Trust Board and subsidiaries
Financial Corporation Limited
The Lines Company Limited
Asset Management Partners Limited 
LCP Alpha Limited
HGB Limited Advisory Board 
Stark Property Limited Advisory Board 

Director
Director
Director
Chair
Director
Director
Director
Director
Chair
Member

C P Richardson
New Zealand Institute of Minerals to Materials Research
Faraday Street Limited (trading as Beckette)
Monday Limited
Financial Corporation Limited
The Lines Company Limited
Embrium Holdings Limited 
Edcollective Limited
Edison Corporation Limited
IdeaHQ NZ Limited
Bradley Holdings Limited 
Commerce Group Limited
CPK Corporate Holdings Limited and subsidiaries
(T/a Coopers Pet Kitchen)
Designer Wardrobe Limited
Brothers Beer Holdings Limited
Eight Wire Limited
Two Islands Trading Co Limited
Edison Health Limited

Director
Director / Shareholder
Director / Shareholder
Director
Director
Director
Director
Advisor
Advisor
Advisor
Advisor
Advisor

Advisor
Advisor
Advisor
Advisor
Advisor

R A Sutton
Anglican Church Property Trust  
Independent Line Services Limited  
Electricity Ashburton Limited  
Network Tasman Limited
Christchurch District Energy Company Limited  
Big Brothers Big Sisters  
Christchurch Youth Hub  
Wells Group Advisory Board  
Roger Sutton Consulting
Financial Corporation Limited
The Lines Company Limited
EECA — Low Emission Vehicles Contestable Fund

Director
Director
Director
Director
General Manager
Board Member
Trustee
Member
Principal
Director
Director
Assessment Panel
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4. Employee Remuneration
Remuneration and other benefits for employees totalling $100,000 or more were as follows:

2019 2018
$450,000 – $460,000 – 1

$380,000 – $390,000 1 –

$300,000 – $310,000 1 1

$280,000 – $290,000 – 1

$230,000 – $240,000 1 –

$180,000 – $190,000 – 2

$170,000 – $180,000 2 –

$160,000 – $170,000 2 –

$150,000 – $160,000 – 2

$140,000 – $150,000 2 1

$130,000 – $140,000 7 2

$120,000 – $130,000 3 4

$110,000 – $120,000 7 4

$100,000 – $110,000 15 12

41 30
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Accounting Standards not yet adopted

New accounting standards and interpretations not yet adopted.

The following standards and interpretations which are considered relevant but not yet effective  
for the year ended 31 March 2019 have not been applied in preparing the financial statements:

NZ IFRS 16 Leases (Effective date: periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019)

NZ IFRS 16, ‘Leases’, replaces the current guidance in NZ IAS 17. Under NZ IFRS 16, a contract is, or 
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period 
of time in exchange for consideration. Under NZ IAS 17, a lessee was required to make a distinction 
between a finance lease (on balance sheet) and an operating lease (off balance sheet). NZ IFRS 16 now 
requires a lessee to recognise a lease liability reflecting future lease payments and a ‘right-of-use asset’ 
for virtually all lease contracts. Included is an optional exemption for certain short-term leases and 
leases of low-value assets; however, this exemption can only be applied by lessees. The standard is 
effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The Group intends to adopt 
NZ IFRS 16 on its effective date. 

We have assessed our current operating leases, the biggest impact is the lease of our offices in Hamilton 
at the Waikato Innovation Park. The impact of NZ IFRS 16 results in a right-of-use asset being brought 
onto the statement of financial position with a corresponding lease liability. We have estimated that the 
approximate impacts on the 31 March 2019 financial statements are as follows:

2019 
$’000

Statement of comprehensive income
Increase in depreciation 68

Increase in interest 18

Decrease in operating expenses (78)

8

Statement of financial position
Increase in non-current assets 251

Increase in non-current liabilities 204

Increase in current liabilities 66

Increase in net assets (19)

Decrease in equity (19)
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
To the Shareholders of The Lines Company Limited’s Group Financial Statements and 
Performance Information for the year ended 31 March 2019 

The Auditor-General is the auditor of The Lines Company Limited Group (the Group). The Auditor-
General has appointed me, Matthew White, using the staff and resources of PricewaterhouseCoopers, to 
carry out the audit of the financial statements and the performance information of the Group on his 
behalf.  

Opinion on the financial statements and the performance information 

We have audited: 

• the financial statements of the Group on pages 38 to 71 and on pages 73, 76 and 77, that 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, the statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flow for the 
year ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements that include a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information; and

• the statement of service performance of the Group on page 36.

In our opinion: 

 the financial statements of the Group:
o present fairly, in all material respects:

- its financial position as at 31 March 2019; and
- its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

o comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance
with New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards; and

 the performance information of the Group presents fairly, in all material respects, the Group’s
achievements measured against the performance targets adopted for the year ended 31 March
2019.

Our audit was completed on 27 August 2019. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed. 

The basis for our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board of 
Directors and our responsibilities relating to the financial statements and the performance information, 
we comment on other information, and we explain our independence.  

Basis for our opinion 

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the Professional and Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing (New 
Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Responsibilities of the auditor section of our report. 

We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 
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Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the financial statements and the 
performance information 

The Board of Directors is responsible on behalf of the Group for preparing financial statements that 
are fairly presented and that comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand and 
New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards. 

The Board of Directors is also responsible on behalf of the Group for preparing performance 
information that is fairly presented. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable it 
to prepare financial statements and performance information that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements and the performance information, the Board of Directors is 
responsible on behalf of the Group for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The 
Board of Directors is also responsible for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting, unless there is an intention to liquidate the Group or to 
cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Board of Directors’ responsibilities arise from the Energy Companies Act 1992. 

Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements and the 
performance information 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and the 
performance information, as a whole, are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but it is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in 
accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts or disclosures, and can arise 
from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of shareholders taken on the basis of these 
financial statements and performance information. 

We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the financial 
statements and the performance information. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also: 

 We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and the
performance information, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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 We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

 We evaluate the appropriateness of the reported performance information within the Group’s
framework for reporting its performance;

 We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors.

 We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the
Board of Directors and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
and performance information or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

 We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements and the
performance information, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements and
the performance information represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

 We obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial statements of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements and performance information. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.  

Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001. 

Other Information 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included on pages 2 to 25, pages 72, and pages 74 to 75 but does not include the financial 
statements and the performance information, and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements and the performance information does not cover the other 
information and we do not express any form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements and the performance information, our 
responsibility is to read the other information. In doing so, we consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the financial statements and the performance information or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on our 
work, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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General has appointed me, Matthew White, using the staff and resources of PricewaterhouseCoopers, to 
carry out the audit of the financial statements and the performance information of the Group on his 
behalf.  

Opinion on the financial statements and the performance information 

We have audited: 

• the financial statements of the Group on pages 38 to 71 and on pages 73, 76 and 77, that 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, the statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flow for the 
year ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements that include a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information; and

• the statement of service performance of the Group on page 36.

In our opinion: 
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- its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and
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with New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards; and

 the performance information of the Group presents fairly, in all material respects, the Group’s
achievements measured against the performance targets adopted for the year ended 31 March
2019.

Our audit was completed on 27 August 2019. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed. 

The basis for our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board of 
Directors and our responsibilities relating to the financial statements and the performance information, 
we comment on other information, and we explain our independence.  

Basis for our opinion 

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the Professional and Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing (New 
Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Responsibilities of the auditor section of our report. 

We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 
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Independence 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the independence requirements of the Auditor-
General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the independence requirements of Professional and 
Ethical Standard 1 (Revised): Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners issued by the New Zealand 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. 

In addition to the audit we have carried out engagements in the areas of Default Price-Quality Path 
Compliance audit, Information Disclosure audit and other regulatory advice which are compatible 
with those independence requirements. Other than the audit and these assignments, we have no 
relationship with or interests in the Group or any of its subsidiaries. 

Matthew White 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Hamilton, New Zealand 
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Glossary of Terms

EBITDA  Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.

EBIT Earnings before interest and tax.

Net assets Total assets, less current liabilities. 

Shareholder funds Shareholder equity plus subordinated debentures.

Debt to asset ratio (Total liabilities less deferred tax liabilities) divided by total assets.

Capital ratio Shareholder equity divided by total assets.

Return on average  
equity

 (Profit for the year to equity holders) divided by ((opening 
shareholder equity plus closing shareholder equity) divided by 2).

Return on average  
net assets

 (EBIT multiplied by the applicable tax rate) divided by ((opening net 
assets plus closing net assets) divided by 2)
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